

FaZe Holdings Inc.

Up to 5,923,333 Shares of Common Stock (for issuance) Up to 46,980,651 Shares of Common Stock (for resale) Up to 173,333 Warrants to Purchase Shares of Common Stock (for resale)

This prospectus supplement relates to the prospectus, dated May 4, 2023 (as amended and supplemented, the "Prospectus"), related to the issuance by us of up to 5,923,333 shares of common stock, par value \$0.0001 ("Common Stock"), of FaZe Holdings Inc., a Delaware corporation ("FaZe"), consisting of (i) shares of Common Stock issuable upon the exercise of the Private Placement Warrants (as defined in the Prospectus) that were issued upon the separation of the Private Placement Units (as defined in the Prospectus) that were issued in a private placement simultaneous with the IPO (as defined in the Prospectus) and (ii) shares of Common Stock issuable upon the exercise of the Public Warrants (as defined in the Prospectus) that were issued to stockholders as part of the units issued in the IPO. The Prospectus also relates to the resale by certain Selling Holders (as defined in the Prospectus) of: (1) up to 46,980,651 shares of Common Stock, consisting of (i) 24,886,691 shares of Common Stock issued to pre-Business Combination (as defined in the Prospectus) securityholders of Legacy FaZe (as defined in the Prospectus) in connection with the Business Combination, (ii) 520,000 shares of Common Stock issued upon the separation of the Private Placement Units that were issued in a private placement simultaneous with the IPO, (iii) 8,571,060 shares of Common Stock issuable upon the exercise of those Legacy FaZe Options (as defined in the Prospectus), (iv) 4,312,500 shares of Common Stock converted from the Founder Shares (as defined in the Prospectus), (v) 8,517,067 shares of Common Stock issuable upon the exercise of these Legacy FaZe Options (as defined in the Prospectus) that converted into FaZe stock options in connection with the Business Combination and (vi) 173,333 shares of Common Stock that may be issued upon exercise of the 173,333 Private Placement Warrants; and (2) up to 173,333 Private Placement Warrants.

This prospectus supplement is being filed to update and supplement the information contained in the Prospectus with the information from our Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended June 30, 2023, which was filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission (the "SEC") on August 14, 2023 (the "Quarterly Report"). Accordingly, we have attached the Quarterly Report to this prospectus supplement.

This prospectus supplement updates and supplements the information in the Prospectus and is not complete without, and may not be delivered or utilized except in combination with, the Prospectus, including any amendments or supplements thereto. This prospectus supplement should be read in conjunction with the Prospectus and if there is any inconsistency between the information in the Prospectus and this prospectus supplement, you should rely on the information in this prospectus supplement.

Our Common Stock and Warrants are traded on the Nasdaq Capital Market ("Nasdaq") under the symbols "FAZE" and "FAZEW," respectively. On August 11, 2023, the closing price of our Common Stock on Nasdaq was \$0.30 per share and the closing price of our Warrants on Nasdaq was \$0.03 per Warrant.

Investing in our securities involves risks. See "Risk Factors" beginning on page 7 of the Prospectus and in any applicable prospectus supplement.

Neither the SEC nor any state securities commission has approved or disapproved of these securities or passed upon the adequacy or accuracy of the Prospectus or this prospectus supplement. Any representation to the contrary is a criminal offense.

The date of this prospectus supplement is August 14, 2023.

UNITED STATES SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION Washington, D.C. 20549

FORM 10-Q

(Mark One)

X QUARTERLY REPORT PURSUANT TO SECTION 13 OR 15(d) OF THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934

For the quarterly period ended June 30, 2023

Or

□ TRANSITION REPORT PURSUANT TO SECTION 13 OR 15(d) OF THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934

For the transition period from _ to

Commission File Number 001-40083

FAZE HOLDINGS INC.

(Exact Name of Registrant as Specified in Its Charter)

Delaware	85-2081659
(State or Other Jurisdiction of	(I.R.S. Employer
Incorporation or Organization)	Identification No.)

720 N. Cahuenga Blvd., Los Angeles, CA

(Address of Principal Executive Offices)

(818) 688-6373

(Registrant's telephone number, including area code)

Securities registered pursuant to Section 12(b) of the Act:

		Name of each exchange
Title of each class	Trading Symbol (s)	on which registered
Common stock, par value \$0.0001 per share	FAZE	The Nasdaq Stock Market LLC
Warrants, each whole warrant exercisable for one	FAZEW	The Nasdaq Stock Market LLC
share of common stock		

Indicate by check mark whether the registrant: (1) has filed all reports required to be filed by Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 during the preceding 12 months (or for such shorter period that the registrant was required to file such reports), and (2) has been subject to such filing requirements for the past 90 days. Yes \boxtimes No \square

Indicate by check mark whether the registrant has submitted electronically every Interactive Data File required to be submitted pursuant to Rule 405 of Regulation S-T (§232.405 of this chapter) during the preceding 12 months (or for such shorter period that the registrant was required to submit such files). Yes ⊠ No □

Indicate by check mark whether the registrant is a large accelerated filer, an accelerated filer, a non-accelerated filer, a smaller reporting company or an emerging growth company. See the definitions of "large accelerated filer", "accelerated filer," "smaller reporting company" and "emerging growth company" in Rule 12b-2 of the Exchange Act.

Large accelerated filer		Accelerated filer	
Non-accelerated filer	\boxtimes	Smaller reporting company	X
		Emerging growth company	\times

If an emerging growth company, indicate by check mark if the registrant has elected not to use the extended transition period for complying with any new or revised financial accounting standards provided pursuant to Section 13(a) of the Exchange Act. \Box

Indicate by check mark whether the registrant is a shell company (as defined in Rule 12b-2 of the Exchange Act). Yes 🗆 No 🗵

As of August 2, 2023, there were 76,329,689 shares of common stock, par value \$0.0001 per share, issued and outstanding.

90038

(Zip Code)

FaZe Holdings Inc. Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q For the Three Months Ended June 30, 2023

Table of Contents

		Page
PART I.	FINANCIAL INFORMATION	1
Item 1.	Financial Statements	1
	Condensed Balance Sheets as of June 30, 2023 (unaudited) and December 31, 2022	1
	Condensed Statements of Operations for the three months and six months ended June 30, 2023 and 2022 (unaudited)	2
	Condensed Statements of Changes in Stockholder's Equity for the three months and six months ended June 30, 2023 and 2022	3
	(<u>unaudited)</u>	
	Condensed Statements of Cash Flows for the six months ended June 30, 2023 and 2022 (unaudited)	4
	Notes to Unaudited Condensed Financial Statements	5
Item 2.	Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations	23
Item 3.	Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures About Market Risk	42
Item 4.	Controls and Procedures	42
PART II.	OTHER INFORMATION	43
Item 1.	Legal Proceedings	43
Item 1A.	Risk Factors	44
Item 2.	Unregistered Sales of Equity Securities and Use of Proceeds	44
Item 3.	Defaults Upon Senior Securities	44
Item 4.	Mine Safety Disclosures	44
Item 5.	Other Information	44
Item 6.	Exhibits	45
	<u>Signatures</u>	46

i

PART I. FINANCIAL INFORMATION

Item 1. Financial Statements.

FaZe Holdings Inc. CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS (In thousands, except shares) (unaudited)

June 30,

December 31,

ASSETS Joint Mathematical Stress Current Assets: 2,455 37,207 Accounts receivable, net 2,455 8,225 Contract assets 9,156 6,223 Prepaid expenses and other assets 3,665 6,768 Total Current Assets 3,665 6,768 Total Current Assets 3,665 6,768 Restricted (cash 600 600 Propering lease right-of-use assets 1,942 2,693 Intangible assets, net 547 848 Other long-term assets 700 553 TOTAL ASSETS 5 43,668 5 LABILITIES, MEZZANINE EQUITY AND STOCKHOLDERS' EQUITY ILABILITIES 5 14,397 Contract liabilities; 1,488 1,489 1,489 1,489 Total Current Liabilities, non-current 1,488 1,489 1,943 3,494 Operating lease liabilities, non-current 1,488 1,948 1,948 1,948 1,948 1,948 1,948 1,948 1,948 1,9497 11 <		5	2023	DC	2022
Current Assets: 21,225 \$ 21,225 \$ 37,207 Cash 2,854 8,525 6,070 6,623 Prepaid expenses and other assets 3,665 5,676 6,000 Total Current Assets 36,690 5,8723 Restricted cash 6,000 6,000 Porperity, equipment and leasehold improvements, net 2,999 3,821 Optrating lease right-of-use assets 1,942 2,203 Intangible assets, net 700 5533 TOTAL ASSETS \$ 44,368 \$ 67,723 Current liabilities: 700 5533 Current liabilities, current 1,842 \$ 14,397 Contract liabilities, current 1,948 3,494 Operating lease liabilities, current 1,448 1,448 Total Current Liabilities 11 24 Querrant liabilities, current 1,448 1,448 Total Current Liabilities, current 1,448 1,448 Total Current Liabilities 11 24 Operating lease liabilities, current 344 1,648	ASSETS		2020		2022
Cash S 21,225 S 37,207 Accounts recivable, net 2,854 8,525 Contract asets 3,655 6,768 Total Current Assets 36,650 58,723 Restricted Cash 600 600 Property, equipment and leasehold improvements, net 2,999 3,821 Operating lease right-of-use assets 1,942 2,093 Intangible assets, net 547 8488 Other long-term assets 547 8488 Other long-term assets 700 553 TOTAL ASSETS \$ 11,364 \$ Current liabilities: 21,093 13,342 1,943 Counts payable and accrued expenses \$ 11,864 \$ Contract liabilities 11 24 3,944 Operating lease liabilities, current 1,948 3,494 Total Current Liabilities 11 24 Contract liabilities 111 24 Operating lease liabilities, non-current 348 1,084 Tota					
Accounts receivable, net 2.854 8.525 Contract assets 9,156 6,223 Prepaid expenses and other assets 36,6900 58,723 Restricted cash 600 600 Property, equipment and leasehold improvements, net 2,999 3,821 Operating lease right-of-use assets 1,942 2,693 Intangible assets, net 700 5533 TOTAL ASSETS 5 43,688 5 LIABILITIES: 700 5533 Current liabilities: 1,948 3,494 Operating lease liabilities, current 1,488 1,4397 Contract liabilities, current 1,488 1,430 Total Current Liabilities 111 24 Operating lease liabilities, non-current 113,420 113,420 Total Liabilities 113 24 Operating lease liabilities, non-current 3,443 1,044 Total Liabilities 113 24 Operating lease liabilities, non-current 3,443 1,044 Total Liabilities 114		\$	21,225	\$	37.207
Contract assets 9,156 6,223 Prepaid expenses and other assets 3,665 6,768 Total Current Assets 36,900 58,723 Restricted cash 600 6000 Property, equipment and leasehold improvements, net 2,999 3,821 Operating lease right-of-use assets 1,942 2,693 Intangible assets, net 547 848 Other long-term assets 700 553 TOTAL ASSETS § 43,688 § 6,7,238 LIABILITIES, Current liabilities, current 1,948 3,494 Operating lease liabilities, current 1,948 1,448 1,448 Total Current Liabilities 11 24 Operating lease liabilities, current 1,948 1,948 Total Current Liabilities 11 24 Operating lease liabilities, non-current 348 1,084 Total Liabilities 11 24 Operating lease liabilities, non-current 348 1,084 Total Current Liabilities 11 24 Operating					
Total Current Assets 36,900 58,723 Restricted cash 600 600 600 Property, equipment and leasehold improvements, net 2,999 3,821 Operating lease right-of-use assets 1,942 2,693 Intangible assets, net 700 553 TOTAL ASSETS \$ 43,688 \$ 67,238 LIABILITTES, MEZZANINE EQUITY AND STOCKHOLDERS' EQUITY					
Restricted cash600600Property, equipment and leasehold improvements, net2,9993,821Operating lease right-of-use assets1,9422,693Itangible assets, net547848Other long-term assets700553TOTAL ASSETS\$ 43,688\$ 67,238LIABILITIES, MEZZANINE EQUITY AND STOCKHOLDERS' EQUITY1LIABILITIES1,9483,494Operating lease right-of-use assets\$ 11,864\$ 14,397Contract liabilities:1,9483,494Accounts payable and accrued expenses\$ 11,864\$ 14,397Contract liabilities, current1,4881,488Total Current Liabilities1124Operating lease liabilities, non-current3481,084Total Current Liabilities1124QOMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES (Note 9)15,65520,487COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES (Note 9)-MEZZANINE EQUITY:2Series A preferred stock, \$0,0001 par value, 3,545,529 shares authorized at June 30, 2023 and 2022, respectively, zero share shares issued and outstanding at June 30, 2023 and December 31, 2022Common stock, \$0,0001 par value; 1,000,000 shares of the Company's preferred stock authorized at June 30, 2023 and December 31, 2022, respectively, 75,688,236 and 71,511,887 shares of common stock subdinized at June 30, 2023 and December 31, 2022, respectively, 75,688,236 and 71,511,887 shares of common stock subdinized at June 30, 2023 and December 31, 2022, respectively, 75,688,236 and 71,511,887 shares of common stock subdinized at June 30, 2023 and Decembe	Prepaid expenses and other assets		3,665		6,768
Property, equipment and leasehold improvements, net2,9993,821Operating lease right-of-use asets1,9422,633Intangible asets, net700553TOTAL ASSETS\$ 43,688\$ 67,238LIABILITIES, MEZZANINE EQUITY AND STOCKHOLDERS' EQUITYLIABILITIES543,688Courter liabilities:1,9483,494Operating lease liabilities, current1,9483,494Operating lease liabilities, current1,9483,494Operating lease liabilities, current1,9483,494Operating lease liabilities, current1124Operating lease liabilities, non-current11124Operating lease liabilities, non-current3481,084Total Current Liabilities3481,084COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES (Note 9)1124MEZZANINE EQUITY:-Series A prefered stock, \$0.0001 par value, 3,545,529 shares authorized at June 30, 2023 and 2022, respectively, zero share shares issued and outstanding at June 30, 2023 and 2022, respectively, zero share shares issued and outstanding at June 30, 2023 and December 31, 2022, respectively, 75,688,236-and 71,511,887 shares of common stock authorized at June 30, 2023 and December 31, 2022, respectively, 75,688,236-and 71,511,887 shares of common stock authorized at June 30, 2023 and December 31, 2022, respectively, 75,688,23637,686Accumulated deficit(309,338)(220,945)Total Liabilities38, 27,686-Additional paid-in capital30, 2023 and December 31, 2022, respectively, 7	Total Current Assets		36,900		58,723
Operating lease right-of-use assets 1,942 2,693 Intangible assets, net 547 848 Other long-term assets 700 553 TOTAL ASSETS \$ 43,688 \$ 67,238 LIABILITIES, MEZZANINE EQUITY AND STOCKHOLDERS' EQUITY LIABILITIES Current liabilities: 1,948 3,434 Operating lease liabilities, current 1,948 1,448 Total Current Liabilities 11 24 Operating lease liabilities, non-current 15,300 19,379 Warrant liabilities 11 24 Operating lease liabilities, non-current 348 1,084 Total Liabilities 348 1,084 COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES (Note 9) 15,659 20,487 MEZZANINE EQUITY: - - Series A prefered stock, \$0,0001 par value, 3,545,529 shares authorized at June 30, 2023 and 2022, respectively, zero share sisued and outstanding at June 30, 2023 and December 31, 2022 - - Strike A prefered stock, \$0,0001 par value at June 30, 2023 and December 31, 2022 - -	Restricted cash		600	_	600
Intangible assets, net547848Othe long-term assets700553TOTAL ASSETS843,685LIABILITIES, MEZZANINE EQUITY AND STOCKHOLDERS' EQUITY1LIABILITIES:	Property, equipment and leasehold improvements, net		2,999		3,821
Other long-term assets700553TOTAL ASSETS\$43,688\$67,238LIABILITIES, MEZZANINE EQUITY AND STOCKHOLDERS' EQUITYLIABILITIES.Current liabilities:1,9483,494Operating basel bailities, current1,94814,48914,488Total Current Liabilities1124Operating lease liabilities, non-current3481,0841124Operating lease liabilities, non-current3481,0843481,084Total Lourient Liabilities15,50920,48720,487COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES (Note 9)MEZZANINE EQUITY:Series A preferred stock, \$0,0001 par value; 3,545,529 shares authorized at June 30, 2023 and 2022, respectively, zero share share sisued and outstanding at June 30, 2023 and 2022, respectively, zero share of the Company's preferred stock authorized at June 30, 2023 and December 31, 2022Common stock, \$0,0001 par value; 1,000,000 shares of the Company's preferred stock authorized at June 30, 2023 and December 31, 2022Common stock, \$0,0001 par value at June 30, 2023 and December 31, 2022, respectively; 75,688,236Common stock, \$0,0001 par value at June 30, 2023 and December 31, 2022, respectively; 75,688,236Common stock, \$0,0001 par value at June 30, 2023 and December 31, 2022, respectively; 75,688,236Common stock, \$0,0001 par value at June 30, 2023 and December 31, 2022	Operating lease right-of-use assets		1,942		2,693
TOTAL ASSETS\$ 43,688\$ 67,238LIABILITIES, MEZZANINE EQUITY AND STOCKHOLDERS' EQUITYLIABILITIES:Current liabilities:Accounts payable and accrued expenses\$ 11,864\$ 14,397Contract liabilities, current1,9483,494Operating lease liabilities, current1,4881,488Total Current Liabilities1124Operating lease liabilities, non-current3481,084Total Current Liabilities1124Operating lease liabilities, non-current3481,084Total Liabilities1124Operating lease liabilities, non-current3481,084Total Liabilities1124Operating lease liabilities, non-current3481,084Total Liabilities1124COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES (Note 9)HEZZANINE EQUITY:Series A preferred stock, \$0.00001 par value, 3,545,529 shares authorized at June 30, 2023 and 2022, respectively, zero share shares issued and outstanding at June 30, 2023 and 2022, respectively, zero share shares issued and outstanding at June 30, 2023 and December 31, 2022—STOCKHOLDERS' EQUITY:——Preferred stock, \$0.0001 par value; 1,000,000 shares of the Company's preferred stock authorized at June 30, 2023 and December 31, 2022—Common stock, \$0.0001 par value at June 30, 2023 and December 31, 2022, respectively; 50,000,000 and 500,000,000 shares of common stock issued and outstanding at June 30, 2023 and December 31, 2022, respectively; 75,688,236 and 71,511,887 shares of common stock issued and outstanding at June 30, 2023 and December			547		848
LIABILITIES, MEZZANINE EQUITY AND STOCKHOLDERS' EQUITY LIABILITIES: Current liabilities: Accounts payable and accrued expenses Accounts payable and accured expenses Accounts payable and accured expenses Accounts payable and accured expenses Accounts payable and payable Accounts payable Accounts A	-				
LIABILITIES:Current liabilities:Accounts payable and accrued expenses\$ 11,864\$ 14,397Contract liabilities1,9483,494Operating lease liabilities, current1,4881,488Total Current Liabilities1124Operating lease liabilities, non-current11124Operating lease liabilities, non-current3481,084Total Liabilities15,65920,487COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES (Note 9)55MEZZANINE EQUITY:555Series A preferred stock, \$0,0001 par value, 3,545,529 shares authorized at June 30, 2023 and 2022, respectively, zero share sissued and outstanding at June 30, 2023 and 2022, respectively, zero share of the Company's preferred stock authorized at June 30, 2023 and December 31, 2022, respectively, 75,688,236 and 71,511,887 shares of common stock authorized at June 30, 2023 and December 31, 2022, respectively, 75,688,236 and 71,511,887 shares of common stock authorized at June 30, 2023 and December 31, 2022, respectively, 75,688,236 and 71,511,887 shares of common stock issued and outstanding at June 30, 2023 and December 31, 2022, respectively, 75,688,236 and 71,511,887 shares of common stock authorized at June 30, 2023 and December 31, 2022, respectively, 75,688,236 and 71,511,887 shares of common stock issued and outstanding at June 30, 2023 and December 31, 2022, respectively, 75,688,236 and 71,511,887 shares of common stock authorized at June 30, 2023 and December 31, 2022, respectively, 75,688,236 and 71,511,887 shares of common stock authorized at June 30, 2023 and December 31, 2022, respectively, 75,688,236 and 71,511,887 shares of common stock authorized at June 30, 2023 and December 31, 2022, respectively, 75,688,236 and 71,	TOTAL ASSETS	\$	43,688	\$	67,238
Current liabilities:S11,864\$14,387Accounts payable and accrued expenses1,4883,494Operating lease liabilities, current1,4881,488Total Current Liabilities11,30019,379Warrant liabilities, non-current3481,084Total Liabilities3481,084Total Liabilities3481,084Total Liabilities15,65920,487COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES (Note 9)50,0000 par value, 3,545,529 shares authorized at June 30, 2023 and 2022, respectively, zero share shares issued and outstanding at June 30, 2023 and 2022, respectively, zero share of the Company's preferred stock, \$0,0001 par value; 1,000,000 shares of the Company's preferred stock authorized at June 30, 2023 and December 31, 2022, respectively; 75,688,236 and 71,511,887 shares of common stock issued and outstanding at June 30, 2023 and December 31, 2022, respectively; 75,688,236 and 71,511,887 shares of common stock issued and outstanding at June 30, 2023 and December 31, 2022, respectively; 75,688,236 and 71,511,887 shares of common stock issued and outstanding at June 30, 2023 and December 31, 2022, respectively; 75,688,236 and 71,511,887 shares of common stock issued and outstanding at June 30, 2023 and December 31, 2022, respectively; 75,688,236 and 71,511,887 shares of common stock issued and outstanding at June 30, 2023 and December 31, 2022, respectively; 75,688,236 and 71,511,887 shares of common stock issued and outstanding at June 30, 2023 and December 31, 2022, respectively; 75,688,236 and 71,511,887 shares of common stock issued and outstanding at June 30, 2023 and December 31, 2022, respectively; 75,688,236 and 71,511,887 shares of common stock issued and outstanding at June 30, 2023 and December 31, 2022, respectivel	LIABILITIES, MEZZANINE EQUITY AND STOCKHOLDERS' EQUITY				
Accounts payable and accrued expenses\$ 11,864\$ 14,397Contract liabilities1,9483,494Operating lease liabilities, current1,4881,488Total Current Liabilities15,30019,379Warrant liabilities, non-current3481,084Total Liabilities1124Operating lease liabilities, non-current3481,084Total Liabilities15,65920,487COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES (Note 9)55MEZZANINE EQUITY:55Series A preferred stock, \$0,0001 par value, 3,545,529 shares authorized at June 30, 2023 and 2022, respectively, zero share shares issued and outstanding at June 30, 2023 and 2022, respectively, zero share shares issued and outstanding at June 30, 2023 and December 31, 2022—Preferred stock, \$0,0001 par value; 1,000,000 shares of the Company's preferred stock authorized at June 30, 2023; zero share of the Company's preferred stock authorized at June 30, 2023; zero share soft common stock issued and outstanding at June 30, 2023 and December 31, 2022, respectively; 75,688,236 and 71,511,887 shares of common stock uthorized at June 30, 2023 and December 31, 2022, respectively; 75,688,236 and 71,511,887 shares of common stock issued and outstanding at June 30, 2023 and December 31, 2022, respectively; 75,688,236 and 71,511,887 shares of common stock uthorized at June 30, 2023 and December 31, 2022, respectively; 75,688,236 and 71,511,887 shares of common stock uthorized at June 30, 2023 and December 31, 2022, respectively; 75,688,236 and 71,511,887 shares of common stock uthorized at June 30, 2023 and December 31, 2022, respectively; 75,688,236 and 71,511,887 shares of common stock uthorized at June 30, 2023 and December 31,	LIABILITIES:				
Contract liabilities19483,494Operating lease liabilities, current1,4881,488Total Current Liabilities15,30019,379Warrant liabilities1124Operating lease liabilities, non-current3481,084Total Liabilities115,65920,487COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES (Note 9)15,65920,487MEZZANINE EQUITY:1515Series A preferred stock, \$0.00001 par value, 3,545,529 shares authorized at June 30, 2023 and 2022, respectively, zero share shares issued and outstanding at June 30, 2023 and 2022, and 2022, respectively, zero share of the Company's preferred stock authorized at June 30, 2023 and December 31, 2022—Preferred stock, \$0.0001 par value; 1,000,000 shares of the Company's preferred stock authorized at June 30, 2023 and December 31, 2022—Common stock, \$0.0001 par value at June 30, 2023 and December 31, 2022, respectively; 75,688,236 and 71,511,887 shares of common stock issued and outstanding at June 30, 2023 and December 31, 2022, respectively87Additional paid-in capital337,359327,686Accumulated deficit(309,338)(280,942)Total Stockholders' Equity28,02946,751					
Operating lease liabilities, current1,4881,488Total Current Liabilities15,30019,379Warrant liabilities1124Operating lease liabilities, non-current3481,084Total Liabilities15,65920,487COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES (Note 9)55MEZZANINE EQUITY:55Series A preferred stock, \$0,0001 par value, 3,545,529 shares authorized at June 30, 2023 and 2022, respectively, zero share shares issued and outstanding at June 30, 2023 and 2022, and pecember 31, 2022, respectively, zero share of the Company's preferred stock authorized at June 30, 2023 and December 31, 2022, respectively; 75,688,236 and 71,511,887 shares of common stock authorized at June 30, 2023 and December 31, 2022, respectively; 75,688,236 and 71,511,887 shares of common stock authorized at June 30, 2023 and December 31, 2022, respectively; 75,688,236 and 71,511,887 shares of common stock issued and outstanding at June 30, 2023 and December 31, 2022, respectively; 75,688,236 and 71,511,887 shares of common stock authorized at June 30, 2023 and December 31, 2022, respectively; 75,688,236 and 71,511,887 shares of common stock issued and outstanding at June 30, 2023 and December 31, 2022, respectively; 75,688,236 and 71,511,887 shares of common stock authorized at June 30, 2023 and December 31, 2022, respectively; 75,688,236 and 71,511,887 shares of common stock issued and outstanding at June 30, 2023 and December 31, 2022, respectively; 75,688,236 and 71,511,887 shares of common stock issued and outstanding at June 30, 2023 and December 31, 2022, respectively; 75,688,236 and 71,511,887 shares of common stock issued and outstanding at June 30, 2023 and December 31, 2022, respectively; 75,688,236 and 71,511,887 shares of common stock issued and outstanding at		\$		\$	· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·
Total Current Liabilities15,30019,379Warrant liabilities1124Operating lease liabilities, non-current3481,084Total Liabilities15,65920,487COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES (Note 9)MEZZANINE EQUITY:Series A preferred stock, \$0.0001 par value, 3,545,529 shares authorized at June 30, 2023 and 2022, respectively, zero share shares issued and outstanding at June 30, 2023 and 2022.—STOCKHOLDERS' EQUITY:——Preferred stock, \$0.0001 par value; 1,000,000 shares of the Company's preferred stock authorized at June 30, 2023 and December 31, 2022—Common stock, \$0.0001 par value at June 30, 2023 and December 31, 2022, respectively; 75,688,236 and 71,511,887 shares of common stock authorized at June 30, 2023 and December 31, 2022, respectively; 75,688,236 and 71,511,887 shares of common stock issued and outstanding at June 30, 2023 and December 31, 2022, respectively; 75,688,236 and 71,511,887 shares of common stock issued and outstanding at June 30, 2023 and December 31, 2022, respectively; 75,688,236 and 71,511,887 shares of common stock issued and outstanding at June 30, 2023 and December 31, 2022, respectively; 75,688,236 and 71,511,887 shares of common stock issued and outstanding at June 30, 2023 and December 31, 2022, respectively; 75,688,236 and 71,511,887 shares of common stock issued and outstanding at June 30, 2023 and December 31, 2022, respectively; 75,688,236 and 71,511,887 shares of common stock issued and outstanding at June 30, 2023 and December 31, 2022, respectively; 75,688,236 Accumulated deficit87Total Stockholders' Equity28,02946,751					
Warrant liabilities1124Operating lease liabilities, non-current3481,084Total Liabilities15,65920,487COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES (Note 9)MEZZANINE EQUITY:Series A preferred stock, \$0.00001 par value, 3,545,529 shares authorized at June 30, 2023 and 2022, respectively, zero share shares issued and outstanding at June 30, 2023 and 2022.——STOCKHOLDERS' EQUITY:——Preferred stock, \$0.0001 par value; 1,000,000 shares of the Company's preferred stock authorized at June 30, 2023; zero share of the Company's preferred stock issued and outstanding at June 30, 2023 and December 31, 2022.——Common stock, \$0.0001 par value at June 30, 2023 and December 31, 2022, respectively; 500,000,000 and 500,000,000 shares of common stock authorized at June 30, 2023 and December 31, 2022, respectively; 75,688,236 and 71,511,887 shares of common stock issued and outstanding at June 30, 2023 and December 31, 2022, respectively; 75,688,236 and 71,511,887 shares of common stock issued and outstanding at June 30, 2023 and December 31, 2022, respectively; 75,688,236 Accumulated deficit87Additional paid-in capital337,359327,686Accumulated deficit(309,338)(280,942)Total Stockholders' Equity28,02946,751					
Operating lease liabilities, non-current3481,084Total Liabilities15,65920,487COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES (Note 9)MEZZANINE EQUITY:Series A preferred stock, \$0.00001 par value, 3,545,529 shares authorized at June 30, 2023 and 2022, respectively, zero share shares issued and outstanding at June 30, 2023 and 2022.—STOCKHOLDERS' EQUITY:——Preferred stock, \$0.0001 par value; 1,000,000 shares of the Company's preferred stock authorized at June 30, 2023 and December 31, 2022, respectively; zero share of the Company's preferred stock issued and outstanding at June 30, 2023 and December 31, 2022, respectively; 75,688,236 and 71,511,887 shares of common stock authorized at June 30, 2023 and December 31, 2022, respectively; 75,688,236 and 71,511,887 shares of common stock issued and outstanding at June 30, 2023 and December 31, 2022, respectively; 75,688,236 and 71,511,887 shares of common stock issued and outstanding at June 30, 2023 and December 31, 2022, respectively; 75,688,236 and 71,511,887 shares of common stock issued and outstanding at June 30, 2023 and December 31, 2022, respectively; 75,688,236 Additional paid-in capital87Additional paid-in capital337,359327,686Accumulated deficit(309,338)(280,942)Total Stockholders' Equity28,02946,751	Total Current Liabilities		15,300		19,379
Total Liabilities15,65920,487COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES (Note 9)MEZZANINE EQUITY:Series A preferred stock, \$0.00001 par value, 3,545,529 shares authorized at June 30, 2023 and 2022, respectively, zero share shares issued and outstanding at June 30, 2023 and 2022.—STOCKHOLDERS' EQUITY:—Preferred stock, \$0.0001 par value; 1,000,000 shares of the Company's preferred stock authorized at June 30, 2023 and December 31, 2022—Common stock, \$0.0001 par value at June 30, 2023 and December 31, 2022, respectively; 500,000,000 and 500,000,000 shares of common stock issued and outstanding at June 30, 2023 and December 31, 2022, respectively; 75,688,236 and 71,511,887 shares of common stock issued and outstanding at June 30, 2023 and December 31, 2022, respectively; 75,688,236 and 71,511,887 shares of common stock issued and outstanding at June 30, 2023 and December 31, 2022, respectively; 75,688,236 and 71,511,887 shares of common stock issued and outstanding at June 30, 2023 and December 31, 2022, respectively; 75,688,236 Additional paid-in capital87Additional paid-in capital337,359327,686Accumulated deficit(309,338)(280,942)Total Stockholders' Equity28,02946,751			11		24
COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES (Note 9)MEZZANINE EQUITY:Series A preferred stock, \$0.0001 par value, 3,545,529 shares authorized at June 30, 2023 and 2022, respectively, zero share sisued and outstanding at June 30, 2023 and 2022.—STOCKHOLDERS' EQUITY:Preferred stock, \$0.0001 par value; 1,000,000 shares of the Company's preferred stock authorized at June 30, 2023 and December 31, 2022; zero share of the Company's preferred stock issued and outstanding at June 30, 2023 and December 31, 2022—Common stock, \$0.0001 par value at June 30, 2023 and December 31, 2022, respectively; 500,000,000 and 500,000,000 shares of common stock authorized at June 30, 2023 and December 31, 2022, respectively; 75,688,236 and 71,511,887 shares of common stock issued and outstanding at June 30, 2023 and December 31, 2022, respectively87Additional paid-in capital337,359327,686Accumulated deficit(309,338)(280,942)Total Stockholders' Equity28,02946,751	Operating lease liabilities, non-current		348		1,084
MEZZANINE EQUITY:Series A preferred stock, \$0.0001 par value, 3,545,529 shares authorized at June 30, 2023 and 2022, respectively, zero share shares issued and outstanding at June 30, 2023 and 2022.—STOCKHOLDERS' EQUITY:—Preferred stock, \$0.0001 par value; 1,000,000 shares of the Company's preferred stock authorized at June 30, 2023; zero share of the Company's preferred stock issued and outstanding at June 30, 2023 and December 31, 2022—Common stock, \$0.0001 par value at June 30, 2023 and December 31, 2022, respectively; 500,000,000 and 500,000,000 shares of common stock authorized at June 30, 2023 and December 31, 2022, respectively; 75,688,236 and 71,511,887 shares of common stock issued and outstanding at June 30, 2023 and December 31, 2022, respectively87Additional paid-in capital337,359327,686Accumulated deficit(309,338)(280,942)Total Stockholders' Equity28,02946,751	Total Liabilities		15,659		20,487
Series A preferred stock, \$0.0001 par value, 3,545,529 shares authorized at June 30, 2023 and 2022, respectively, zero share shares issued and outstanding at June 30, 2023 and 2022.—STOCKHOLDERS' EQUITY:——Preferred stock, \$0.0001 par value; 1,000,000 shares of the Company's preferred stock authorized at June 30, 2023; zero share of the Company's preferred stock issued and outstanding at June 30, 2023 and December 31, 2022.——Common stock, \$0.0001 par value at June 30, 2023 and December 31, 2022, respectively; 500,000,000 and 500,000,000 shares of common stock authorized at June 30, 2023 and December 31, 2022, respectively; 75,688,236 and 71,511,887 shares of common stock issued and outstanding at June 30, 2023 and December 31, 2022, respectively; 75,688,236 and 71,511,887 shares of common stock issued and outstanding at June 30, 2023 and December 31, 2022, respectively; 75,688,236 Additional paid-in capital87Additional paid-in capital(309,338)(280,942)Total Stockholders' Equity28,02946,751	COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES (Note 9)				
zero share shares issued and outstanding at June 30, 2023 and 2022.——STOCKHOLDERS' EQUITY:——Preferred stock, \$0.0001 par value; 1,000,000 shares of the Company's preferred stock authorized at June 30, 2023; zero share of the Company's preferred stock issued and outstanding at June 30, 2023 and December 31, 2022, respectively; 500,000,000 shares of common stock authorized at June 30, 2023 and December 31, 2022, respectively; 75,688,236 and 71,511,887 shares of common stock issued and outstanding at June 30, 2023 and December 31, 2022, respectively; 75,688,236 and 71,511,887 shares of common stock issued and outstanding at June 30, 2023 and December 31, 2022, respectively; 75,688,236 Additional paid-in capital87Additional paid-in capital337,359327,686Accumulated deficit(309,338)(280,942)Total Stockholders' Equity28,02946,751	MEZZANINE EQUITY:				
STOCKHOLDERS' EQUITY:Preferred stock, \$0.0001 par value; 1,000,000 shares of the Company's preferred stock authorized at June 30, 2023, and December 31, 2022, and December 31, 2022, and December 31, 2022, respectively; 500,000,000 and 500,000,000 shares of common stock authorized at June 30, 2023 and December 31, 2022, respectively; 75,688,236 and 71,511,887 shares of common stock issued and outstanding at June 30, 2023 and December 31, 2022, respectively; 75,688,236 respectively87Additional paid-in capital337,359327,686Accumulated deficit(309,338)(280,942)Total Stockholders' Equity28,02946,751					
Preferred stock, \$0.0001 par value; 1,000,000 shares of the Company's preferred stock authorized at June 30, 2023 and December 31, 2022			—		
zero share of the Company's preferred stock issued and outstanding at June 30, 2023 and December 31, 2022——Common stock, \$0.0001 par value at June 30, 2023 and December 31, 2022, respectively; 50,000,000 and 500,000,000 shares of common stock authorized at June 30, 2023 and December 31, 2022, respectively; 75,688,236 and 71,511,887 shares of common stock issued and outstanding at June 30, 2023 and December 31, 2022, respectively; 75,688,236 respectively87Additional paid-in capital337,359327,686Accumulated deficit(309,338)(280,942)Total Stockholders' Equity28,02946,751					
Common stock, \$0.0001 par value at June 30, 2023 and December 31, 2022, respectively; 500,000,000 and 500,000,000 shares of common stock authorized at June 30, 2023 and December 31, 2022, respectively; 75,688,236 and 71,511,887 shares of common stock issued and outstanding at June 30, 2023 and December 31, 2022, respectively87Additional paid-in capital337,359327,686Accumulated deficit(309,338)(280,942)Total Stockholders' Equity28,02946,751					
500,000,000 shares of common stock authorized at June 30, 2023 and December 31, 2022, respectively; 75,688,236 and 71,511,887 shares of common stock issued and outstanding at June 30, 2023 and December 31, 2022, respectively87Additional paid-in capital337,359327,686Accumulated deficit(309,338)(280,942)Total Stockholders' Equity28,02946,751			_		
and 71,511,887 shares of common stock issued and outstanding at June 30, 2023 and December 31, 2022, 8 7 respectively 8 7 Additional paid-in capital 337,359 327,686 Accumulated deficit (309,338) (280,942) Total Stockholders' Equity 28,029 46,751					
respectively 8 7 Additional paid-in capital 337,359 327,686 Accumulated deficit (309,338) (280,942) Total Stockholders' Equity 28,029 46,751					
Additional paid-in capital 337,359 327,686 Accumulated deficit (309,338) (280,942) Total Stockholders' Equity 28,029 46,751			8		7
Accumulated deficit (309,338) (280,942) Total Stockholders' Equity 28,029 46,751					
Total Stockholders' Equity 28,029 46,751					
		-		_	
$\psi = -3,000$ $\psi = 0,200$		\$	-	\$	
		}	.0,000	÷	07,200

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements

FaZe Holdings Inc. CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS (In thousands, except shares and per-share information) (unaudited)

	Three months ended June 30,				Six months ended June 30,			
		2023		2022		2023		2022
Revenues	\$	11,689	\$	18,805	\$	24,239	\$	34,609
Cost of revenues		9,839		12,877		21,920		25,088
Gross profit	_	1,850		5,928	_	2,319		9,521
Operating expenses:								
General and administrative		16,135		11,058		30,012		21,186
Sales and marketing		142		933		355		2,078
Impairment of content asset				1,073				1,073
Loss from operations		(14,427)		(7,136)		(28,048)		(14,816)
Other expense:								
Interest (income) expense, net		(198)		2,181		(360)		4,032
Change in fair value of warrant liabilities						(13)		
Other, net		127		5		721		16
Total other expense:		(71)		2,186		348		4,048
Net loss	\$	(14,356)	\$	(9, 322)	\$	(28,396)	\$	(18,864)
Net loss per common share - basic and diluted	\$	(0.22)	\$	(0.45)	\$	(0.43)	\$	(0.91)
Weighted-average number of common shares outstanding - basic and diluted	_	66,595,746	_	20,830,314		65,340,688	_	20,735,694

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements

FaZe Holdings Inc. CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF STOCKHOLDERS' EQUITY (In thousands, except shares and per-share information) (unaudited)

	Commo	on Sto	ock		dditional Paid-In	A	ccumulated					
	Shares	s Amount Capital Deficit			Amount Capital Deficit			Capital Deficit				Total
Balance at December 31, 2021	18,841,538	\$	2	\$	5,477	\$	(112,408)	\$	(106,929)			
Stock based compensation expense	—				1,150		—		1,150			
Issuance of common stock upon vesting of restricted stock												
awards	4,084						—					
Exercise of stock option	74,768		—		64		—		64			
Net loss							(9,542)		(9,542)			
Balance at March 31, 2022	18,920,390	\$	2	\$	6,691	\$	(121,950)	\$	(115,257)			
Stock based compensation expense	_		_		1,509		_		1,509			
Issuance of common stock in connection with litigation												
settlement	13,021		_		294		_		294			
Issuance of common stock upon vesting of restricted stock												
awards	16,108		—				—					
Exercise of stock option	43,104		_		36				36			
Net loss							(9,322)		(9,322)			
Balance at June30, 2022	18,992,623	\$	2	\$	8,530	\$	(131,272)	\$	(122,740)			
Balance at December 31, 2022	71,511,887	\$	7	\$	327,686	\$	(280,942)	\$	46,751			
Stock based compensation expense					2,673				2,673			
Issuance of common stock upon vesting of restricted stock												
awards	483,251		—				_		_			
Exercise of stock option	2,050,920				783				783			
Net loss							(14,040)		(14,040)			
Balance at March 31, 2023	74,046,058	\$	7	\$	331,142	\$	(294,982)	\$	36,167			
Stock based compensation expense	_		1		5,964		_		5,965			
Issuance of common stock in connection with SEPA												
agreement	487,995		—		253		—		253			
Issuance of common stock upon vesting of restricted stock												
awards	574,501		_		_		_		_			
Issuance of common stock upon vesting of restricted stock	470 755											
units	479,755		—		—		—		—			
Exercise of stock option Net loss	99,927		_				(14 250)					
		<i>ф</i>		<i>.</i>		<i>•</i>	(14,356)	.	(14,356)			
Balance at June 30, 2023	75,688,236	\$	8	\$	337,359	\$	(309,338)	\$	28,029			

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements

FaZe Holdings Inc. CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS (In thousands) (unaudited)

	1	Six months en	nded J	une 30,
		2023		2022
CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES:				
Net loss	\$	(28,396)	\$	(18,864)
Adjustments to reconcile net loss to net cash used in operating activities:				
Provision for doubtful accounts		1,169		(36)
Additions to content asset		—		(599)
Depreciation & amortization expense		1,259		663
Amortization of operating lease right of use assets		751		
Content asset impairments				1,073
Stock-based compensation expense		8,638		2,659
Change in fair value of warrant liabilities		(13)		
Non-cash interest expense				4,032
Other		—		(37)
Change in operating assets and liabilities:		4 500		
Accounts receivable		4,502		(3,833)
Inventory		2 104		6
Prepaid expenses and other assets		3,104 106		227
Other long-term assets Contract assets		(2,933)		1,314
Accounts payable and accrued expenses		(2,533)		(7,171)
Contract liabilities		(1,545)		(5,132)
Other current liabilities		(1,545)		(3,132)
Operating lease liabilities		(737)		(/)
Other long-term liabilities		(/3/)		27
NET CASH USED IN OPERATING ACTIVITIES		(16,629)		(25,678)
CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES:		(10,020)	_	(20,070)
Purchase of property, plant and equipment		(104)		(3,472)
Purchase of intangible assets		(32)		(356)
NET CASH USED IN INVESTING ACTIVITIES		(136)		(3,828)
CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES		(100)		(8,020)
Proceeds from issuance of loans payable				20,000
Issuance of common stock in connection with exercise of stock options		783		100
Payment of deferred transaction costs				(1,718)
NET CASH PROVIDED BY FINANCING ACTIVITIES		783		18,382
NET CHANGE IN CASH AND RESTRICTED CASH		(15,982)		(11,124)
Cash and restricted cash at beginning of period		37,807		17,618
CASH AND RESTRICTED CASH AT END OF PERIOD	¢	21,825	¢	6,494
	\$	21,025	\$	0,494
RECONCILIATION TO CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS	¢	21.225	¢	F 00 4
Cash Destricted each	\$	21,225	\$	5,894
Restricted cash	<u>_</u>	600	<i>*</i>	600
Cash and restricted cash	\$	21,825	\$	6,494
SUPPLEMENTAL DISCLOSURE FOR OPERATING ACTIVITIES:				
Cash paid for interest	\$	—	\$	
SUPPLEMENTAL DISCLOSURE FOR NON-CASH INVESTING AND FINANCING ACTIVITIES:				
Capitalization of deferred transaction costs included in accounts payable	\$	_	\$	5,058
Issuance of common stock in connection with litigation settlement	\$	_	\$	294
Purchase of property, plant and equipment in accrued expenses	\$		\$	9
Issuance of common stock in connection with SEPA agreement	\$	253	\$	—

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements

FAZE HOLDINGS INC.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AS OF AND FOR THE SIX MONTHS ENDED JUNE 30, 2023 AND 2022

1. DESCRIPTION OF THE BUSINESS

FaZe Holdings Inc. ("FaZe" or the "Company"), is a lifestyle and media platform rooted in gaming and youth culture. The Company's premium brand, talent network, and large audience can be monetized across a variety of products and services.

On July 19, 2022 (the "Closing Date"), pursuant to an Agreement and Plan of Merger (the "Merger Agreement") dated as of October 24, 2021 (as amended in December 2021 and March 2022), by and among B. Riley 150 Merger Corp. ("B. Riley 150"), a special purpose acquisition company, and BRPM Merger Sub, Inc., a directly wholly owned subsidiary of B. Riley 150 ("Merger Sub") and FaZe Clan, Inc. ("Legacy FaZe"), the parties consummated the merger of Merger Sub with and into Legacy FaZe, with Legacy FaZe continuing as the surviving corporation (the "Merger"), as well as the other transactions contemplated by the Merger Agreement (the Merger and such other transactions, the "Business Combination"). In connection with the closing of the Business Combination (the "Closing"), Legacy FaZe became a wholly owned subsidiary of B. Riley 150, which changed its name to "FaZe Holdings Inc."

Legacy FaZe determined that it was the accounting acquirer in the Business Combination based on an analysis of the criteria outlined in Accounting Standards Codification ("ASC") 805, Business Combinations. The Merger was accounted for as a reverse recapitalization, in accordance with U.S. generally accepted accounting principles ("U.S. GAAP"). Under this method of accounting, B. Riley 150 was treated as the acquired company for financial reporting purposes. Accordingly, the Business Combination was treated as the equivalent of Legacy FaZe issuing stock for the net assets of B. Riley 150, accompanied by a recapitalization. The net assets of B. Riley 150 were stated at historical cost, with no goodwill or other intangible assets recorded. Operations prior to the Business Combination are those of Legacy FaZe.

In accordance with guidance applicable to these circumstances, the equity structure has been retroactively restated in all comparative periods up to the Closing Date, to reflect the number of shares of the Company's common stock issued to Legacy FaZe's common stockholders in connection with the Business Combination. As a result, these financial statements represent the continuation of Legacy FaZe and the historical shareholders' deficit. Common stock, preferred stock and loss per share of Legacy FaZe prior to the Business Combination have been retrospectively adjusted for the Business Combination using an exchange ratio of 2.2267 ("Equity Value Exchange Ratio"). The accumulated deficit of Legacy FaZe has been carried forward after the Business Combination.

Notice of Delisting

On March 23, 2023, the Company received a letter (the "Letter") from the Listing Qualifications Department (the "Staff") of The Nasdaq Stock Market ("Nasdaq") informing the Company that its common stock, par value \$0.0001 per share (the "Common Stock"), failed to comply with the \$1 minimum bid price required for continued listing on The Nasdaq Capital Market under Nasdaq Listing Rule 5550(a)(2) based upon the closing bid price of the Common Stock for the 30 consecutive business days prior to the date of the Letter. The notice has no immediate effect on the listing of the Common Stock or warrants, and the Common Stock and warrants will continue to trade on The Nasdaq Capital Market under the symbols "FAZE" and "FAZEW," respectively.

In accordance with Nasdaq Listing Rule 5810(c)(3)(A), the Company has been provided an initial period of 180 calendar days, or until September 19, 2023 (the "Compliance Date"), by which the Company must regain compliance with the minimum bid price requirement. To regain compliance, the closing bid price of the Common Stock must meet or exceed \$1.00 per share for a minimum of ten consecutive business days at any time prior to the Compliance Date, unless the Staff exercises its discretion to extend this ten-day period pursuant to Nasdaq Listing Rule 5810(c)(3)(H).

If the Company does not regain compliance with the minimum bid price requirement by the Compliance Date, the Company may be eligible for an additional 180-calendar day compliance period. If the Company does not qualify for, or fails to regain compliance during, the second compliance period, then the Staff will provide written notification to the Company that the Common Stock will be subject to delisting. At that time, the Company may appeal the Staff's delisting determination to the Nasdaq Hearings Panel.

2. LIQUIDITY

As shown in the accompanying consolidated financial statements, the Company has incurred significant recurring losses resulting in an accumulated deficit. The Company anticipates further losses in the development of its business. The Company also had negative cash flows used in operations. These factors raise substantial doubt about the Company's ability to continue as a going concern.

Based on its cash resources and positive cash reserve as of June 30, 2023, together with the SEPA described below, the Company believes it has sufficient resources to fund its operations at least until twelve months from the date of issuance of these financial statements. The positive working capital as of June 30, 2023 was mainly due to funds from the PIPE offering and from the Business Combination.

On May 10, 2023, the Company and YA II PN, Ltd., a Cayman Islands exempt limited partnership managed by Yorkville Advisors Global, LP (the "Investor"), entered into a Standby Equity Purchase Agreement (the "SEPA").

The Company will have the right to issue and sell to the Investor, from time to time, as provided in the SEPA, and the Investor shall purchase from the Company, up to \$25 million in aggregate gross purchase price (the "Commitment Amount") of the newly issued shares of the Company's common stock, par value \$0.0001 (the "Common Stock") (each such sale, an "Advance") by delivering written notice to the Investor (each, an "Advance Notice" and the date on which the Company is deemed to have delivered an Advance Notice, the "Advance Notice Date"). The Common Stock purchased pursuant to an Advance will be purchased at a price equal to 97% of the lowest daily VWAP of the Common Stock during the three consecutive trading days commencing on the Advance Notice Date. "VWAP" means, for any trading day, the daily volume weighted average price of the Common Stock for such trading day on the Nasdaq Stock Market during regular trading hours as reported by Bloomberg L.P.

The issuance of the Common Stock under the SEPA will be subject to certain limitations, including that (i) the Investor may not purchase any Common Stock that would result in it owning more than 4.99% of the Company's Common Stock or (ii) the aggregate number of Common Stock issued pursuant to the SEPA cannot exceed 19.9% of the Company's Common Stock as of as of the date of the SEPA (referred to as the "Exchange Cap"). The Exchange Cap shall not be applicable if: (i) the Company's stockholders have approved the issuance of Common Stock in excess of the Exchange Cap in accordance with the applicable rules of the Principal Market or (ii) to the extent that (and only for so long as) the average price for the issuance of Common Stock equals or exceed the lower of (i) the Nasdaq Official Closing Price (as reflected on Nasdaq.com) immediately preceding the date of the SEPA; or (ii) the average Nasdaq Official Closing Price for the five Trading Days immediately preceding the date of the SEPA.

Pursuant to the terms of the SEPA, the Company shall prepare and file with the SEC a registration statement (the "Registration Statement") or multiple Registration Statements registering for resale of the Common Stock issuable to the Investor under the SEPA. The Company in its sole discretion may choose when to file such Registration Statements; provided, however, that the Company shall not have the ability to request any Advances until the effectiveness of a Registration Statement.

As consideration for the Investor's commitment to purchase Common Stock at the Company's direction upon the terms and subject to the conditions set forth in the SEPA, the Company issued 487,995 shares of Common Stock to the Investor.

The SEPA shall terminate automatically on the earliest of (i) the first day of the month next following the 36-month anniversary of the date of the SEPA and (ii) the date on which the Investor shall have made payment of Common Stock pursuant to the SEPA for Common Stock equal to the Commitment Amount. The SEPA may be terminated at any time by the mutual written consent of the parties to the SEPA, effective as of the date of such mutual written consent unless otherwise provided in such written consent, or by the Company upon five trading days' prior written notice to the Investor subject to the terms of the SEPA. Because of these factors, the Company believes that this alleviates the substantial doubt in connection with the Company's ability to continue as a going concern.

3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

Basis of Presentation

The accompanying interim Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements of the Company have been prepared in conformity with U.S. GAAP and are consistent in all material respects with those applied in the Company's Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2022 filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission (the "SEC") on April 4, 2023. These Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements are unaudited and have been prepared by the Company following the rules and regulations of the SEC. Certain information and footnote disclosures normally included in financial statements prepared in accordance with U.S. GAAP have been condensed or omitted as permitted by such rules and regulations; however, the Company believes the disclosures are adequate to make the information presented not misleading.

The interim financial information is unaudited, but reflects all normal recurring adjustments that are, in the opinion of management, necessary to fairly present the information set forth herein. The interim Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements should be read in conjunction with the audited Consolidated Financial Statements and related notes included in the Company's Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2022. Interim results are not necessarily indicative of the results for a full year. The preparation of the Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements in conformity with U.S. GAAP requires management to make estimates and judgements that affect the amounts reported in the Consolidated Financial Statements and accompanying notes. Significant items subject to such estimates and assumptions include revenue recognition, allowance for doubtful accounts, and intangible asset impairments, share-based compensation expense, valuation allowance for deferred income taxes and amortization of intangible assets. The Company bases its estimates on historical experience and on various other assumptions that the Company believes to be reasonable under the circumstances. On a regular basis, the Company evaluates the assumptions, judgements and estimates. Actual results may differ from these estimates.

There have been no material changes in the Company's significant accounting policies as compared to the significant accounting policies described in the Company's Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2022.

Principles of Consolidation

The Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements include the accounts of FaZe Holdings Inc. and its wholly owned subsidiary. All significant intercompany balances and transactions have been eliminated.

Use of Estimates

The preparation of the Company's Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements in conformity with U.S. GAAP requires the Company to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities, disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the consolidated financial statements, and the reported amounts of income and expenses during the reporting period. These estimates are based on information available as of the date of the consolidated financial statements. The inputs into certain of these estimates and assumptions include the consideration of the economic impact of the COVID-19 pandemic. Significant estimates include revenue recognition, allowance for doubtful accounts, warrant liabilities, valuation of the Company's common stock before the Business Combination, stock-based compensation expense, and income taxes. These estimates generally involve complex issues and require management to make judgments, involve analysis of historical and future trends, can require extended periods of time to resolve, and are subject to change from period to period. In all cases, actual results could differ materially from management's estimates.

Content Asset, net

The Company produces programming content which it plans to broadcast on online video and streaming platforms. Costs of produced content consist of development and production costs. These costs are capitalized as "Content Asset, net" on the Consolidated Balance Sheets.

Each title is predominantly monetized on its own. At the specific title level, the Company tests the content asset for impairment when events and circumstances indicate that its fair value may be less than its unamortized cost. If the carrying value of a content asset exceeds its estimated fair value, an impairment charge will be recorded in the amount of the difference.

The Company's policy is to amortize the content asset once the content airs. Given that the content was fully written off prior to airing, no amortization expense was recorded for the three and six months ended June 30, 2023 and 2022. The Company does not own any purchased or licensed programming content.

Exploitation costs such as marketing, advertising, publicity, promotion, and other distribution expenses directly connected with the distribution of the content asset are expensed as incurred.

Fixed Assets

Fixed assets are stated at cost less accumulated depreciation. Cost includes expenditures for furniture, computer equipment, vehicles, leasehold improvements, and other assets. Maintenance and repairs are charged to expense as incurred. When assets are sold, retired, or otherwise disposed of, the cost and accumulated depreciation are removed from the accounts and any resulting gain or loss is reflected in operations. The costs of fixed assets are depreciated using the straight-line method over the estimated useful lives or lease life of the related assets.

Revenue Recognition and Contract Balances

Revenues are recognized when control of the promised goods or services is transferred to the Company's customers, in an amount that reflects the consideration the Company expects to be entitled to in exchange for those goods or services. The Company's payment terms and conditions vary by customer and contract type. In instances where the timing of revenue recognition differs from the timing of invoicing, the Company does not adjust the promised amount of consideration for the effects of a significant financing component when the Company expects, at contract inception, that the period between the Company's transfer of a promised product or service to the Company's customer and payment for that product or service will be one year or less.

The Company generally records a receivable related to revenue when the Company has an unconditional right to invoice and receive payment. Contract assets arise from contracts when revenue is recognized over time and the amount of revenue recognized, including management's estimate of variable consideration that has been included in the transaction price exceeds the amount billed to the customer. These amounts are included in contract assets until the right to payment is no longer conditional on events other than the passage of time. These contract assets are reclassified to receivables when the right to consideration becomes unconditional. For the three and six months ending June 30, 2023, and 2022, no impairment was recorded from contract assets.



The Company's allowances for doubtful accounts are typically immaterial and, if required, are based on management's best estimate of expected credit losses inherent in the Company's accounts receivable balance.

Contract liabilities are recorded in the event that the Company bills for services in advance of the time the services are performed, or when cash payments are received or due in advance of satisfying the Company's performance obligations, even if amounts are refundable. Contract liabilities recorded at June 30, 2023, and December 31, 2022, represent the Company's accounting for the timing difference between when the customer is billed or funds are received and when the performance obligation is satisfied. During the three months ended June 30, 2023 and 2022, the Company recognized \$2.6 million and \$3.0 million as revenue that was relating to the contract liability balance as of January 1, 2023 and 2022, respectively. During the six months ended June 30, 2023 and 2022, the Company recognized \$4.3 million and \$7.8 million as revenue that was relating to the contract liability balance as of January 1, 2023 and 2022, respectively.

The following table disaggregates the Company's revenue by major type for the three and six months ended June 30, 2023, and 2022:

	(In thousands)			(In thousands)				
		Three months ended June 30,			Six months ended June 30,			
		2023		2022		2023		2022
Brand sponsorships	\$	4,128	\$	12,923	\$	10,391	\$	20,982
Content		3,314		1,861		6,342		6,543
Consumer products		25		1,454		413		1,857
Esports		4,208		2,538		7,055		4,963
Other		14		29		38		264
Total revenue	\$	11,689	\$	18,805	\$	24,239	\$	34,609

The section below describes the Company's revenue recognition policies and significant judgments in further detail for each major revenue source of the Company.

Brand Sponsorships

The Company offers advertisers a full range of promotional vehicles, including but not limited to online advertising, livestream announcements, event content generation, social media posts, logo placement on the Company's official merchandise, and special appearances of members of the Company's talent roster. The Company's brand sponsorship agreements may include multiple services that are capable of being individually distinct; however the intended benefit is an association with the Company's brand, and the services are not distinct within the context of the contracts. Revenues from brand sponsorship agreements are recognized ratably over the contract term. Payment terms and conditions vary, but payments are generally due periodically throughout the term of the contract. In instances where the timing of revenue recognition differs from the timing of billing, management has determined the brand sponsorship agreements generally do not include a significant financing component.

Content

The Company and its talent roster generate and produce original content which the Company monetizes through Google's AdSense service. Revenue is variable and is earned when the visitor views or "clicks through" on the advertisement. The amount of revenue earned is reported to the Company monthly and is recognized upon receipt of the report of viewership activity. Payment terms and conditions vary, but payments are generally due within 30 to 45 days after the end of each month.

The Company grants exclusive licenses to customers for certain content produced by the Company's talent. The Company grants the customer a license to the intellectual property, which is the content and its use in generating advertising revenues, for a pre-determined period, for an amount paid by the customer, in most instances, upon execution of the contract. The Company's only performance obligation is to license the content for use in generating advertising revenues, and the Company recognizes the full contract amount at the point at which the Company provides the customer access to the content, which is at the execution of the contract. The Company has no further performance obligations under these types of contracts and does not anticipate generating any additional revenue from these arrangements apart from the contract amount.

Principal Versus Agent Considerations

A significant amount of the Company's brand sponsorship and content revenues are generated from the Company's talent, who are under exclusive, multi-year contracts. The Company's talent consists of independent contractors, whose compensation is tied to the revenue that they generate. Management has evaluated the terms of the Company's brand sponsorship and content agreements and has concluded the Company is the principal. Brand sponsorship and content revenues are reported on a gross basis, while revenue-sharing and other fees paid to the Company's talent are recorded as cost of revenues. The Company owns the brand and intellectual property, takes primary responsibility for delivery of services, and exercises control over content generation and monetization. The Company contracts directly with Google on its Company operated channels, and the talent contracts directly with Google on their own channels. As part of the Company's contracts with its talent, the Company agrees to serve as the talent's exclusive management company as it relates to any and all type of work the talent may perform, including content creation and advertising revenue generated from the content. While the talent owns the content they create while they are under contract with the Company, the talent grants the Company an exclusive perpetual license to the content, and the Company grants limited usage rights of that content back to the talent, conditional upon them complying with their contract. Furthermore, all income earned from services provided by the talent related to gaming, Esports, content creation, or the business of the Company's contracts with its talent specify rules and restrictions on the content the talent can create and post. As such, through its contracts with talent, the Company is the principal because the Company is the entity exercising primary control over the content generated in the YouTube channels being monetized.

Consumer Products

The Company earns consumer products revenue from sales of the Company's consumer products on the Company's website or at live or virtual events. Revenues are recognized at a point in time, as control is transferred to the customer upon shipment. The Company offers customer returns and discounts through a third-party distributor and accounts for this as a reduction to revenue. The Company does not offer loyalty programs or other sales incentive programs that are material to revenue recognition. Payment is due at the time of sale. The Company has outsourced the design, manufacturing, fulfillment, distribution, and sale of the Company's consumer products to a third party in exchange for royalties based on the amount of revenue generated. Management evaluated the terms of the agreement to determine whether the Company's consumer products revenues should be reported gross or net of royalties paid. Key indicators that management evaluated in determining whether the Company is the principal in the sale (gross reporting) or an agent (net reporting) include, but are not limited to:

- the Company is the party that is primarily responsible for fulfilling the promise to provide the specified good or service,
- the Company has inventory risk before the good is transferred to the customer, and
- the Company is the party that has discretion in establishing pricing for the specified good or service.

Based on management's evaluation of the above indicators, the Company reports consumer products revenues on a gross basis.

Esports

<u>League Participation</u>: Generally, the Company has one performance obligation - to participate in the overall Esport event - because the underlying activities do not have standalone value absent the Company's participation in the tournament or event. Revenue from prize winnings and profit-share agreements is variable and is highly uncertain. The Company recognizes revenue at the point in time when the uncertainty is resolved.

<u>Player Transfer Fees:</u> Player transfer agreements include a fixed fee and may include a variable fee component. The Company recognizes the fixed portion of revenue from transfer fees upon satisfaction of the Company's performance obligation, which coincides with the execution of the related agreement. The variable portion of revenue is considered highly uncertain and is recognized at the point in time when the uncertainty is resolved.

Licensing of Intellectual Property: The Company's licenses of intellectual property generate royalties that are recognized in accordance with the royalty recognition constraint. That is, royalty revenue is recognized at the time when the sale occurs.

Transaction Price Allocated to the Remaining Performance Obligations

For the estimated revenue expected to be recognized in the future related to performance obligations that are unsatisfied (or partially unsatisfied) as of June 30, 2023, the Company applies the allowable practical expedient and does not disclose information about remaining performance obligations that have original expected durations of one year or less. Revenue expected to be recognized in the future related to performance obligations that have original expected durations greater than one year that are unsatisfied (or partially unsatisfied) as of June 30, 2023 were not material.

Warrants

The Company accounts for warrants as either equity-classified or liability-classified instruments based on an assessment of the warrant's specific terms and applicable authoritative guidance in ASC 480, Distinguishing Liabilities from Equity, and ASC 815, Derivatives and Hedging. Warrants that meet the definition of a derivative financial instrument and the equity scope exception in ASC 815-10-15-74(a) are classified as equity, and are not subject to remeasurement provided that the Company continues to meet the criteria for equity classification. Warrants that are accounted for as equity-classified are further discussed in Note 7, Equity. Warrants that are classified as liabilities are accounted for at fair value and remeasured at each reporting date until exercise, expiration, or modification that results in equity classification. Any change in the fair value of the warrants is recognized as change in fair value of warrant liabilities in the Consolidated Statements of Operations. The classification of warrants, including whether warrants should be recorded as liabilities or as equity, is re-assessed at the end of each reporting period. The fair value of liability-classified warrants is determined using the Black-Scholes options pricing model ("Black-Scholes model") which includes Level 3 inputs as further discussed in Note 6, Private Placement Warrants and Recurring Fair Value Measurements.

The value of the warrant is de minimis and as such the company did not revalue the warrants as of June 30, 2023.

Stock-Based Compensation

The Company accounts for its stock-based awards in accordance with ASC 718, Compensation – Stock Compensation, which requires fair value measurement on the grant date and recognition of compensation expense for all stock-based payment awards.

Legacy FaZe issued stock options before there was an active market for the Company's common stock. The Board of Directors (the "Board") was required to estimate the fair value of the Company's common stock at the time of each award. The Board considered numerous objective and subjective factors in determining the value of the Company's common stock at each grant date, including the following: (1) the per-share price of issuances of the Company's preferred stock, which the Company sold to outside investors in arm's-length transactions, and the rights, preferences, and privileges of the Company's preferred stock and common stock; (2) valuations performed by an independent valuation specialist; (3) the Company's stage of development and revenue growth; (4) the fact that the awards involved illiquid securities in a private company; and (5) the likelihood of achieving a liquidity event for the shares of common stock underlying the awards, such as an initial public offering or sale of the Company, given prevailing market conditions. The Company believed this to have been a reasonable methodology based on certain arm's-length transactions involving the Company's preferred stock, supported by the results produced by this valuation methodology. Since the Business Combination, the Company's common stock is now actively traded, so the fair value of the common stock is readily available.

For stock options, the Company estimates the fair value using the Black-Scholes model. The fair value is expensed over the requisite service periods of the awards (usually one to four years), in the period of grant for awards that vest immediately and have no future service condition, or in the period the awards vest immediately after meeting a performance condition becomes probable (i.e., the occurrence of a change in control event). As there was no public market for its common stock at the time of the stock option grant, the Company determined the volatility for options granted based on an analysis of reported data for a peer group of companies. The expected volatility of options granted has been estimated based on an average of the historical volatility measures of this peer group of companies. The expected life of options has been estimated utilizing the "simplified method" due to the lack of available or sufficient historical exercise data for the Company for the applicable options terms. The simplified method is based on the average of the vesting tranches and the contractual life of each grant. The risk-free interest rate is based on a treasury instrument whose term is consistent with the expected life of the stock options. The Company has not paid, and does not anticipate paying, cash dividends on its common stock; therefore, the expected dividend yield is assumed to be zero. As the Company's stock is now publicly traded after the Business Combination, the fair value of the Company's stock and the volatility is readily available.

The Black-Scholes model requires the input of certain assumptions that require the Company's judgment, including the fair value of common shares before the Business Combination, expected term, and the expected price volatility of the underlying stock. The assumptions used in calculating the fair value of stock-based compensation represent the Company's best estimates, but these estimates involve inherent uncertainties and the application of judgment. As a result, if factors change resulting in the use of different assumptions, stock-based compensation expense could be materially different in the future. The Company accounts for forfeitures of stock-based awards as they occur.

Fair Value Measurement

The fair value hierarchy requires the Company to maximize the use of observable inputs and minimize the use of unobservable inputs when measuring fair value. A financial instrument's classification within the fair value hierarchy is based upon the lowest level of input that is significant to the fair value measurement. The fair value hierarchy consists of the following three levels:

Level 1: Quoted prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities

Level 2: Quoted prices for similar assets and liabilities in active markets or inputs other than quoted prices which are observable for the assets or liabilities

Level 3: Unobservable inputs which are supported by little or no market activity

The carrying amount of the Company's financial instruments, including cash, accounts receivable, notes receivable, and accounts payable, approximate fair value due to their short-term nature.

The Company's private placement warrants (the "Private Placement Warrants") are accounted for as liabilities in accordance with ASC 815-40 and are presented within warrant liabilities on the Consolidated Balance Sheets. The warrant liabilities are measured at fair value at inception and on a recurring basis, with changes in fair value presented within change in fair value of warrant liabilities in the Consolidated Statements of Operations.

See Note 6, Private Placement Warrants and Recurring Fair Value Measurements, for additional information on the Company's liabilities measured at fair value.

Earnings (Loss) Per Share

Basic earnings (loss) per share is computed by dividing net earnings (loss) attributable to the Company by the number of weighted average shares of the Company's common stock outstanding during the period. Diluted earnings (loss) per share is computed by dividing net earnings (loss) attributable to the Company by the number of weighted-average shares of the Company's common stock outstanding during the period after adjusting for the impact of securities that would have a dilutive effect on earnings (loss) per share. As the Company has incurred losses in all periods presented, all potentially dilutive securities are antidilutive. See Note 11, Loss Per Share, for additional information on dilutive securities.

Segment Reporting

Operating segments are defined as components of an entity for which separate financial information is available and is regularly reviewed by the Chief Operating Decision Maker ("CODM") in deciding how to allocate resources to an individual segment and in assessing performance. The Company has determined that its Chief Executive Officer is the CODM. The Company operates and reports financial information in one segment, as the CODM reviews financial information presented on a consolidated basis, at the Company level, for the purposes of making operating decisions, allocation of resources, and evaluating financial performance.

As of June 30, 2023 and December 31, 2022, the Company did not have material assets located outside of the United States. For the three months ended June 30, 2023 and 2022, the Company had international Esports revenue of \$2.4 million and \$1.3 million, respectively, earned outside of the United States. For the six months ended June 30, 2023 and 2022, the Company had international Esports revenue of \$3.6 million and 3.6 million, respectively, earned outside of the United States.

Recently Adopted Accounting Pronouncements

In September 2016, the FASB issued ASU 2016-13, Financial Instruments – Credit Losses (Topic 326): Measurement of Credit Losses on Financial Instruments. This guidance requires the measurement of all expected credit losses for financial assets held at the reporting date based on historical experience, current conditions, and reasonable and supportable forecasts. This guidance also requires enhanced disclosures regarding significant estimates and judgements used in estimating credit losses. The new guidance is effective for fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2022, including interim periods within those fiscal years. The adoption of this standard did not have a material impact on the Company's financial statements and related disclosures.

4. PROPERTY, EQUIPMENT AND LEASEHOLD IMPROVEMENTS

Property, equipment and leasehold improvements as of June 30, 2023 and December 31, 2022 consisted of the following:

	J	June 30,		mber 31,
		2023	2	2022
Furniture / Fixtures	\$	897	\$	897
Computer equipment		3,683		3,640
Vehicles		106		106
Leasehold improvements		862		801
Subtotal		5,548		5,444
Less: Accumulated depreciation		(2,549)		(1,623)
Property, equipment and leasehold improvements, net	\$	2,999	\$	3,821

Depreciation expense totaled \$0.5 million and \$0.3 million for the three months ended June 30, 2023 and 2022, respectively.

Depreciation expense totaled \$0.9 million and \$0.5 million for the six months ended June 30, 2023 and 2022, respectively.

5. INTANGIBLE ASSETS

Intangible assets as of June 30, 2023 and December 31, 2022 consisted of the following:

				(In the	ousands)						
		(Gross				Net				
			arrying	Accu	mulated	(Carrying				
As of June 30, 2023	Useful Life		Value		Value		Value		rtization		Value
Website development	3 years	\$	434	\$	243	\$	191				
Talent acquisition	2 – 3 years		1,054		698		356				
Intangible assets, net		\$	1,488	\$	941	\$	547				
		_		(In the	ousands)						
		(Gross				Net				
		Ca	arrying	Accu	mulated	(Carrying				
As of December 31, 2022	Useful Life		Value		rtization		Value				
Website development	3 years	\$	377	\$	175	\$	202				
Talent acquisition	2 – 3 years		1,201		555		646				
Intangible assets, net		\$	1,578	\$	730	\$	848				

Amortization expense totaled \$0.1 million and \$0.1 million for the three months ended June 30, 2023 and 2022, respectively. Amortization expense totaled \$0.3 million and \$0.2 million for the six months ended June 30, 2023 and 2022, respectively.

The following table presents the estimated future amortization of intangible assets:

Years ending December 31,	(In th	iousands)
2023 (remainder)	\$	182
2024		305
2025		57
2026		3
Total future amortization of amortizable intangible assets	\$	547

The Company did not have any fully amortized intangible assets as of June 30, 2023 and as of June 30, 2022.

6. PRIVATE PLACEMENT WARRANTS AND RECURRING FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS

Warrant Liability

Prior to the Business Combination, B. Riley 150 issued 173,333 Private Placement Warrants with an exercise price of \$11.50 per share. The Private Placement Warrants are identical to the Public Warrants, as described in Note 7, Equity, except that the Private Placement Warrants (including the common stock underlying the Private Placement Warrants) were not transferable, assignable or salable until August 18, 2022, and they are not redeemable by the Company for cash so long as they are held by the sponsor or its permitted transferees. The sponsor, or its permitted transferees, has the option to exercise the Private Placement Warrants on a cashless basis. If the Private Placement Warrants are held by holders other than the sponsor or its permitted transferees, the Private Placement Warrants can be redeemable by the Company in all redemption scenarios and exercisable by the holders on the same basis as the Public Warrants. Upon the Closing of the Business Combination, the Company has determined that the Private Placement Warrants are classified as liabilities and marked to market at each reporting period.

A Black-Scholes model is used to value the Private Placement Warrants at each reporting period. The change in fair value of warrants is recognized as part of change in fair value of warrant liabilities in the Consolidated Statements of Operations. Inherent in a binomial options pricing model are assumptions related to expected share-price volatility, expected life, risk-free interest rate, discount rate and dividend yield. The Company estimates the volatility of its common stock based on a binomial lattice model using the stock price and the price of the Public Warrants as of the valuation date, risk-free interest rate, and the expected life of the warrants. The risk-free interest rate is based on the U.S. Treasury zero-coupon yield curve on the grant date for a maturity similar to the expected remaining life of the warrants. The expected life of the Private Placement Warrants is assumed to be equivalent to their remaining contractual term. The dividend rate is based on the historical rate, which the Company anticipates to remain at zero.

The value of the warrant is de minimis and as such the company did not revalue the warrants as of June 30, 2023.

The key inputs into the Black-Scholes model in determining the fair value of the Private Placement Warrants were as follows at June 30, 2023 and December 31, 2022:

	June 30,	Dece	ember 31,
	2023		2022
Risk-free interest rate	3.7%		4.0%
Expected term (years)	4.3		4.5
Expected volatility	91.5%		53.3%
Exercise price	\$ 11.50	\$	11.50
Dividend yield	0		0



The following table presents a summary of the changes in the fair value of the Private Placement Warrants liability since the Closing Date:

	(In th	ousands)
Warrant liabilities at July 19, 2022	\$	114
Change in fair value of warrant liabilities		(90)
Warrant liabilities at December 31, 2022		24
Change in fair value of warrant liabilities		(13)
Warrant liabilities at March 31, 2023		11
Change in fair value of warrant liabilities		—
Warrant liabilities at June 30, 2023	\$	11

The following table presents information about the Company's assets and liabilities that were measured at fair value on a recurring basis as of June 30, 2023 and December 31, 2022, and indicates the fair value hierarchy of the valuation techniques the Company utilized to determine such fair value.

	(In thousands)							
	June 30, 2023	Quoted Prices in June 30, Active Markets		Significant Other Observable Inputs (Level 3)				
Liabilities: Private Placement Warrants	ф 11	¢	¢	ф <u>11</u>				
	\$ 11	\$	\$	\$ 11				
Total	\$ 11	<u>\$ </u>	\$	\$ 11				
	(In thousands)							
		Quoted Prices in	Significant Other	Significant Other				
	December 31,	Active Markets	Observable Inputs	Observable Inputs				
	2022	(Level 1)	(Level 2)	(Level 3)				
Liabilities:								
Private Placement Warrants	\$ 24	\$ —	\$ —	\$ 24				
Total	\$ 24	\$ —	\$ —	\$ 24				

7. EQUITY

Prior to the Business Combination, Legacy FaZe had two classes of capital stock outstanding: common stock and preferred stock. Following the Business Combination, the Company has one class of capital stock outstanding: common stock. The following summarizes the terms of the Company's capital stock.

Preferred Stock

The Company had 3,545,529 shares of Legacy FaZe preferred stock authorized for issuance with a par value of \$0.00001 per share as of December 31, 2021 and prior to the Closing of the Business Combination.

The Company had 3,237,800 shares of Legacy FaZe's preferred stock issued and outstanding as of December 31, 2021. As a result of the Business Combination, 3,237,800 shares of Legacy FaZe's preferred stock outstanding as of the Closing Date were converted into shares of Legacy FaZe's common stock on a one-to-one basis. Pursuant to the Company's second amended and restated certificate of incorporation, the Company is authorized to issue up to 1,000,000 shares of preferred stock with a par value of \$0.0001. As of June 30, 2023, the Company had no shares of preferred stock issued and outstanding.



Common Stock

The Company had 31,900,878 shares of Legacy FaZe common stock authorized for issuance with a par value of \$0.00001 per share as of December 31, 2021 and prior to the Closing of the Business Combination.

Pursuant to the Company's second amended and restated certificate of incorporation, the Company is authorized to issue up to 500,000,000 shares of common stock with a par value of \$0.0001 per share.

The Company had 75,688,236 and 71,511,887 shares of common stock issued and outstanding as of June 30, 2023 and December 31, 2022 respectively.

Earn-out Shares

As a result of the Business Combination, a number of shares of the Company's common stock (the "Seller Earn Out") equal to 6% of the sum of i) the total number of shares of the Company's common stock issued and outstanding as of immediately after the Closing and ii) the total number of shares of the Company's common stock equal to the product of (A) the total number of net vested company option shares calculated as of immediately prior to the Closing and (B) the Equity Value Exchange Ratio were issued and are subject to vesting and forfeiture conditions upon reaching certain volume-weighted average price ("VWAP") per share during the period commencing 90 days after the Closing Date and ending five years after the Closing Date ("Earn-out Period"). Among other things further disclosed in the Merger Agreement, if the following events ("Trigger Events") occur on or before the five-year anniversary of the Business Combination, then the following vesting events will occur:

- the VWAP per share of the Company's common stock at any point during the trading hours of a trading day is equal to or greater than \$12.00 for any 20 trading days within any period of 30 consecutive trading days, one-third ("First Target Earn-Out Shares") shall immediately vest and no longer be subject to the forfeiture conditions;
- the VWAP per share of the Company's common stock at any point during the trading hours of a trading day is equal to or greater than \$14.00 for any 20 trading days within any period of 30 consecutive trading days, one-third ("Second Target Earn-Out Shares" and, together with the First Target Earn-Out Shares and the Second Target Earn-Out Shares, the "Earn-Out Shares") shall immediately vest and no longer be subject to the forfeiture conditions;
- the VWAP per share of the Company's common stock at any point during the trading hours of a trading day is equal to or greater than \$16.00 for any 20 trading days within any period of 30 consecutive trading days, one-third ("Third Target Earn-Out Shares") shall immediately vest and no longer be subject to the forfeiture conditions;
- in the event of a sale during the Earn-out Period, to the extent that the holders of the Company's common stock receive sale price that is greater than or equal to the applicable closing price, any Earn-Out Shares that have not previously vested shall be deemed to have vested immediately prior to the closing of such sale, and the holders of any Earn-Out Shares deemed vested shall be eligible to participate in such sale with respect to the Sponsor Earn-Out Shares (as defined below) on the same terms, and subject to the same conditions, as apply to the holders of the Company's common stock. Upon the consummation of the sale, the Earn-out Period shall terminate.

As a result of the Business Combination, among other things further disclosed in the Sponsor Support Agreement, dated as of October 24, 2021, by and among B. Riley Principal 150 Merger Corp., B. Riley Principal 150 Sponsor Co. LLC, and FaZe Clan Inc., the sponsors agreed that (x) an aggregate of 2,156,250 sponsor shares shall be fully vested and (y) an aggregate of 2,156,250 sponsor shares (the "Sponsor Earn-Out Shares") shall be subject to the same vesting or forfeiture provisions during the Earn-out Period, and subject to the same Trigger Events mentioned above.

The Earn-out Shares meet the accounting definition of a derivative financial instrument, are considered to be indexed to the Company's common stock and meet other the conditions in ASC 815-40, Derivatives and Hedging: Contracts in Entity's Own Equity, to be classified as equity.

As of June 30, 2023, the Earn-Out Period had begun but vesting conditions had not yet been met.

Public Warrants to Acquire Common Stock

Prior to the Business Combination, there were 5,750,000 Public Warrants issued and outstanding in connection with the initial public offering of B. Riley 150 with an exercise price of \$11.50 per share. The Public Warrants became exercisable 30 days after the Business Combination. Each whole share of the warrant is exercisable for one share of the Company's common stock.

The Company may redeem the outstanding Public Warrants for \$0.01 per warrant upon at least 30 days' prior written notice of redemption given after the warrants become exercisable, if the reported last sale price of the common stock equals or exceeds \$18.00 per share (as adjusted for stock dividends, sub-divisions, reorganizations, recapitalizations and the like) for any 20 trading days within a 30-trading day period commencing after the warrants become exercisable and ending on the third trading day before the Company sends the notice of redemption to the warrant holders. Upon issuance of a redemption notice by the Company, the warrant holders may, at any time after the redemption notice, exercise the Public Warrants on a cashless basis.

The Public Warrants meet the definition of a derivative financial instrument and the equity scope exception in ASC 815-10-15-74(a) to be classified as equity, and are not subject to remeasurement provided that the Company continues to meet the criteria for equity classification.

As of June 30, 2023, all 5,750,000 Public Warrants remain outstanding.

STOCK COMPENSATION EXPENSE

2022 Omnibus Incentive Plan

8.

On October 24, 2021, the stockholders of the Company approved the 2022 Omnibus Incentive Plan (the "OIP"), which became effective as of the Closing Date of the Business Combination. The OIP allows grants of incentive stock options, non-statutory stock options, stock appreciation rights, restricted stock, restricted stock units, stock bonuses, other stock-based awards, cash awards, and substitute awards (the "OIP Awards") to selected officers, employees, partners, non-employee directors, independent contractors, and consultants. The Company has 12,358,689 shares of the Company's common stock reserved for issuance pursuant to awards that may be granted under the OIP. As of June 30, 2023, 592,210 shares of the Company's common stock are subject to restricted stock awards.

2022 Employee Stock Purchase Plan

On October 24, 2021, the stockholders of the Company approved the 2022 Employee Stock Purchase Plan (the "ESPP"), which became effective as of the Closing Date of the Business Combination. An aggregate of 1,791,416 shares of the Company's common stock has been reserved for issuance or transfer pursuant to rights granted under the ESPP ("Aggregate Number"). The Aggregate Number represents 2% of the aggregate number of shares of the Company's fully diluted shares outstanding immediately after the Closing and is subject to increase each year over a tenyear period. The maximum aggregate number of shares of common stock available for issuance under ESPP shall not exceed 75,000,000 shares. The ESPP will be implemented through a series of offerings of purchase rights to eligible employees. Each eligible employee may authorize payroll deductions at a minimum of 1% up to a maximum of 15% on a pro rata basis for each pay period during an offering. Under the ESPP, the Company's Board may designate the period of each offering, but no offering shall exceed 27 months in duration. Unless otherwise determined, the offering shall be for a purchase period of 6 months, beginning on the offering date and ending on the exercise date. The purchase price for each share shall be 85% of the fair market value of the Company's common stock on the offering date or the exercise date, whichever is less. As of June 30, 2023, no awards have been granted under this plan.

Amended and Restated 2019 Equity Incentive Plan

The Company maintained an equity incentive plan established in October 2019, the Amended 2019 Equity Incentive Plan (the "Legacy FaZe Plan"). The Legacy FaZe Plan allowed grants of incentive stock options, non-statutory stock options, stock appreciation rights, restricted stock and restricted stock units, generally to directors, employees, consultants and service providers. In July 2021, the Company's Board amended the Legacy FaZe Plan and increased the maximum aggregate number of shares authorized to be issued to 10,500,000 shares of Legacy FaZe common stock, which is equivalent to 21,371,301shares of the Company's common stock calculated using the Equity Value Exchange Ratio. As of June 30, 2023, 16,638,024 shares of the Company's common stock are issuable upon the vesting and exercise of stock options originally granted under the Legacy FaZe Plan, and 174,710 shares of the Company's common stock are subject to restricted stock awards originally granted under the Legacy FaZe Plan. Following the Closing of the Business Combination, no further awards may be awarded under the Legacy FaZe Plan, and any outstanding awards granted under the plan will remain subject to the terms of the Legacy FaZe Plan and the applicable award agreement.

The following table contains information about the Company's equity compensation plans as of June 30, 2023:

	Shares Reserved for Issuance	Awards Outstanding	Shares Available for Grant
2022 Omnibus Incentive Plan	12,358,689	3,876,658	8,482,031
2022 Employee Stock Purchase Plan	75,000,000		75,000,000
Amended 2019 Equity Incentive Plan	23,380,173	21,371,301	2,008,872

Stock Compensation Expense

Stock-based compensation expense for the periods presented was comprised of the following, which were included in general and administrative expenses within the Consolidated Statements of Operations:

	 (In thousands)				(In thousands)			
	 For the three months ended June 30,				For the six r Jun	nontl e 30,		
	 2023 2022		2023		2022			
Stock options	\$ 6	\$	62	\$	12	\$	118	
Restricted stock awards	5,957		1,447		8,625		2,541	
Total stock-based compensation expense	\$ 5,963	\$	1,509	\$	8,637	\$	2,659	

Options

The following is an analysis of the stock option grant activity during the six months ended June 30, 2023:

Vastad and Nanyastad Stock Ontions	Number	Av Ex	eighted verage tercise Price	Weighted Average Remaining Life
Vested and Nonvested Stock Options	Nulliber	1	Price	Life
Outstanding December 31, 2022	18,863,654	\$	0.38	4.13
Granted	-		-	-
Exercised	(2,150,847)		0.38	-
Expired or forfeited	-		-	-
Outstanding June 30, 2023	16,712,807	\$	0.38	3.63

	W	eighted-
	P	lverage
	E	xercise
Number		Price
670,008	\$	0.38
		-
(165,225)		0.38
-	_	-
504,783	\$	0.38
	670,008 (165,225)	A E Number 670,008 \$ (165,225) -

The Company recognized stock-based compensation expense related to options granted and vesting expense of \$6 thousand during the three months ended June 30, 2023, which is included in general and administrative expenses. The Company recognized stock-based compensation expense related to options issued and vesting of \$62 thousand during the three months ended June 30, 2022, which is included in general and administrative expenses.

The Company recognized stock-based compensation expense related to options granted and vesting expense of \$12 thousand during the six months ended June 30, 2023, which is included in general and administrative expenses. The Company recognized stock-based compensation expense related to options issued and vesting of \$118 thousand during the six months ended June 30, 2022, which is included in general and administrative expenses.

During the three months ended June 30, 2023 and 2022, the Company granted a total of 0 and 0 options, respectively. During the six months ended June 30, 2023 and 2022, the Company granted a total of 0 and 0 options, respectively.

Warrants

The following is an analysis of the warrant grant activity during the six months ended June 30, 2023:

		I	Veighted Average Exercise	Weighted Average Remaining
Vested and Nonvested Stock Warrants	Number		Price	Life
Outstanding December 31, 2022	5,923,333	\$	11.50	4.55
Granted	-		-	-
Exercised	-		-	-
Expired or forfeited	-		-	-
Outstanding June 30, 2023	5,923,333	\$	11.50	4.05

During the three months ended June 30, 2023 and 2022, the Company granted a total of 0 and 0 warrants, respectively. During the six months ended June 30, 2023 and 2022, the Company granted a total of 0 and 0 warrants, respectively. As of June 30, 2023 there are no Nonvested Stock Warrants outstanding.

Restricted Stock Awards

A summary of Restricted Stock Awards ("RSAs") issuances during the six months ended June 30, 2023 is as follows:

			eighted verage
Nonvested RSAs	Number]	Price
Nonvested December 31, 2022	1,649,962	\$	6.27
Granted	-		-
Vested	(1,057,752)		6.48
Forfeited	-		
Nonvested June 30, 2023	592,210	\$	4.63

The Company recognized stock-based compensation expense related to RSAs granted and vesting expense of \$5.9 million and \$1.4 million during the three months ended June 30, 2023 and 2022, respectively, which is included in general and administrative expenses. The Company recognized stock-based compensation expense related to RSAs granted and vesting expense of \$8.6 million and \$2.5 million during the six months ended June 30, 2023 and 2022, respectively, which is included in general and administrative expenses.

During the three months ended June 30, 2023 and 2022, the Company granted a total of 0 and 813,223 RSAs, respectively. During the six months ended June 30, 2023 and 2022, the Company granted a total of 0 and 1,119,698 RSAs, respectively.

Restricted Stock Units

A summary of Restricted Stock Units ("RSUs") issuances during the six months ended June 30, 2023 is as follows:

		,	Weighted
			Average
Nonvested RSUs	Number		Price
Nonvested December 31, 2022	702,417	\$	2.79
Granted	2,135,984		1.31
Vested	(1,154,748)		1.28
Forfeited	(39,000)		2.27
Nonvested June 30, 2023	1,644,653	\$	1.36

The Company recognized stock-based compensation expense related to RSUs granted and vesting expense of \$0.9 million and \$0 during the three months ended June 30, 2023 and 2022, respectively, which is included in general and administrative expenses. The Company recognized stock-based compensation expense related to RSUs granted and vesting expense of \$1.2 million and \$0 during the six months ended June 30, 2023 and 2022, respectively, which is included in general and administrative expenses.

During the three months ended June 30, 2023 and 2022, the Company granted a total of 2,040,984 and 0 RSUs, respectively. During the six months ended June 30, 2023 and 2022, the Company granted a total of 2,135,984 and 0 RSUs, respectively.

9. COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES

Operating Leases

The Company leases certain business and residential facilities under operating lease agreements that specify minimum rentals with lease terms ranging from two to two and a half years. The Company's rent expense for the three months ended June 30, 2023 and 2022 was \$0.4 million and \$0.4 million, respectively. The Company's rent expense for the six months ended June 30, 2023 and 2022 was \$0.4 million and \$0.4 million, respectively. Rent expense is included in general and administrative expense in the Consolidated Statements of Operations. Scheduled rent increases, if any, are amortized on a straight-line basis over the lease term.

Our lease agreements generally do not provide an implicit borrowing rate; therefore, an internal incremental borrowing rate is determined based on information available at lease commencement date for purposes of determining the present value of lease payments. We used the incremental borrowing rate on June 30, 2023 and December 31, 2022 for all leases that commenced prior to that date. In determining this rate, which is used to determine the present value of future lease payments, we estimate the rate of interest we would pay on a collateralized basis, with similar payment terms as the lease and in a similar economic environment.



(In thousands) Components of total lease costs:	E Ju	Three months Ended June 30, 2023		Ended June 30,		Ended June 30,		Ended June 30,		Ended June 30,		Ended June 30,		Ended June 30,		Ended June 30,		Ended June 30,		Ended June 30,		Ended June 30,		Ended June 30,		Ended June 30,		Ended June 30,		Ended June 30,		Ended June 30,		Ended June 30,		Ended June 30,		ee months Ended une 30, 2022
Operating lease expense	\$	393	\$	436																																		
Total lease costs	\$	393	\$	436																																		
	Six months Ended June 30,		Ended		_	x months Ended une 30,																																
(In thousands)	2023		2023		2023		2023			2022																												
Components of total lease costs:																																						
Operating lease expense	\$	790	\$	803																																		
Total lease costs	\$	790	\$ 80																																			

Lease Positions as of June 30, 2023 and December 31, 2022

Right of use, or ROU, lease assets and lease liabilities for our operating leases are recorded on the balance sheet as follows:

(In thousands) Assets	J	June 30, 2023		,		December 31, 2022	
Right of use asset – long term	\$	1,942	\$	2,693			
Total right of use asset	\$	1,942	\$	2,693			
Liabilities							
Operating lease liabilities – short term	\$	1,488	\$	1,488			
Operating lease liabilities – long term		348		1,084			
Total lease liability	\$	1,836	\$	2,572			

Lease Terms and Discount Rate

Weighted average remaining lease term (in years) – operating leases	1.2
Weighted average discount rate – operating leases	4%

Future minimum lease payments, which include non-cancelable operating leases at June 30, 2023, are as follows:

Year ending December 31,	(In tho	ousands)
2023 (remainder)	\$	757
2024		1,071
2025		5
2026		3
Thereafter		-
Total minimum lease payment	\$	1,836

10. LITIGATION

From time to time, in the normal course of operations, the Company is subject to litigation matters and claims, including claims relating to employee relations and business practices. The Company expenses legal fees as incurred. The Company records a provision for contingent losses when it is both probable that a liability has been incurred and the amount of the loss can be reasonably estimated. An unfavorable outcome to any legal matter, if material, could have an adverse effect on the Company's operations or its financial position, liquidity, or results of operations. On November 30, 2020, Adult Use Holdings, Inc. ("Adult Use") and Zola Ventures Ltd. ("Zola") initiated arbitration claiming that the Company owed CA\$ 3 million to Adult Use and Zola in connection with alleged funding to the Company of CA\$ 30.0 million by Bridging Finance Group. On December 21, 2020, the Company brought counterclaims against Adult Use, Zola, and their principals Adam Salman and Igor Gimelshtein. On May 14, 2021, the Company applied for summary disposition of the claim for CA\$ 3 million brought by Adult Use and Zola. On August 4, 2021, the arbitrator granted the Company's application and issued a Partial Final Award dismissing Adult Use's and Zola's claim. The United States District Court for the Southern District of New York subsequently affirmed the Partial Final Award and its dismissal of Adult Use's and Zola's claims against the Company in a decision issued September 28, 2022. On November 8 and November 11, 2022, the arbitrator held hearings in connection with the Company's counterclaims. On December 23, 2022, the Company filed an application for costs and attorneys' fees. On June 3, 2023, the Company was awarded \$399 thousand of costs and attorneys' fees for prevailing against the CA\$ 3 million claim brought against the Company and for the Counterclaim Respondents' conduct that unnecessarily increased the costs of the arbitration. As result, the Company has not recorded a reserve with respect to this litigation.

11. LOSS PER SHARE

In accordance with the provisions of ASC 260, Earnings Per Share, net loss per share is computed by dividing net loss by the weighted-average shares of common stock outstanding during the period. The results of operations were net losses for the three and six months ended June 30, 2023 and 2022. The following table sets forth the computation of basic and diluted earnings per share attributable to common stockholders for the three and six months ended June 30, 2023 and six months ended June 30, 2023.

	(In thousands, except shares and per-share information)							tion)
		Three months ended			Six months end		nded	
		June 30,			June 30,			
		2023 2022			2023		2022	
Basic and diluted loss per share:								
Net loss attributable to FaZe Holdings Inc., basic and diluted	\$	(14,356)	\$	(9,322)	\$	(28,396)	\$	(18,864)
Weighted-average common shares outstanding, basic and diluted		66,595,746		20,830,314		65,340,688		20,735,694
Net loss per share, basic and diluted	\$	(0.22)	\$	(0.45)	\$	(0.43)	\$	(0.91)

During a loss period, the effect of the potential exercise of stock options, warrants, convertible preferred stock, and convertible debt are not considered in the diluted loss per share calculation since the effect would be antidilutive. The Company did not have any participating securities in the periods presented. The Company had 1,680,774 fully vested warrants pursuant to which common shares were issuable for little to no consideration outstanding as of the Closing Date and for the year ended December 31, 2021. These warrants were exercised during the Business Combination. The Company considered these warrants outstanding in the context of basic loss per share and included these warrants in the weighted-average shares of common stock outstanding for the period until converted.

The Company had antidilutive shares for the three and six months ended June 30, 2023 and 2022. The following securities were not included in the computation of diluted shares outstanding for the three and six months ended June 30, 2023, and 2022 because the effect would be antidilutive:

	As of June 30, 2023	As of June 30, 2022
Convertible preferred stock		
Public Warrants	5,750,000	5,750,000
Private Placement Warrants	173,333	173,333
Seller Earn-out	5,312,098	5,312,098
Sponsor Earn-out Shares	2,156,250	2,156,250
Legacy FaZe preferred warrant		—
Unvested restricted stock award	592,210	1,649,962
Unvested restricted stock units	1,644,653	1,124,674
Stock options	18,859,673	18,863,654
Total potentially dilutive common stock equivalents	34,488,217	35,029,971

12. SUBSEQUENT EVENTS

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the Company has evaluated subsequent events through August 14, 2023, which is the date the Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements were available for issuance.

Item 2. Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations

The following discussion and analysis should be read in conjunction with our historical Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements and the related notes included elsewhere in this report.

This report contains forward-looking statements within the meaning of Section 27A of the Securities Act and Section 21E of the Exchange Act. All statements, other than statements of present or historical fact included in this report, including statements regarding the Company's strategy, future operations and financial performance, estimated financial position, estimated revenue and losses, projections of market opportunity and market share, projected costs, prospects, plans and objectives of management are forward-looking statements. These forward-looking statements generally are identified by the words "budget," "could," "forecast," "future," "might," "outlook," "plan," "possible," "potential," "predict," "project," "seem," "seek," "strive," "would," "should," "may," "believe," "intend," "expect," "will," "continue," "increase," and/or similar expressions that concern strategy, plans or intentions, but the absence of these words does not mean that a statement is not forward-looking. Such statements are based on management's belief or interpretation of information currently available. These forward-looking statements are based on various assumptions, whether or not identified herein, and on the current expectations of management and are not predictions of actual performance. Because forward-looking statements are predictions, projections and other statements about future events that are based on current expectations and assumptions, whether or not identified in this report, they are subject to inherent uncertainties, risks and changes in circumstances that are difficult to predict. Many factors could cause actual results and conditions (financial or otherwise) to differ materially from those indicated in the forward-looking statements, including but not limited to: the sufficiency of our cash, cash equivalents and investments to meet our liquidity needs; litigation and regulatory proceedings relating to our business, including the ability to adequately protect our intellectual property rights; our limited operating history and uncertain future prospects and rate of growth due to our limited operating history; our ability to continue to monetize our platform; our ability to grow market share in our existing markets or any new markets we may enter; our ability to maintain and grow the strength of our brand reputation; our ability to manage our growth effectively; our ability to retain existing and attract new Esports professionals, content creators and influencers; our success in retaining or recruiting, or changes required in, our officers, directors and other key employees or independent contractors; our ability to maintain and strengthen our community of brand partners, engaged consumers, content creators, influencers and Esports professionals, and the success of our strategic relationships with these and other third parties; risks related to data security and privacy, including the risk of cyber-attacks or other security incidents; our ability to secure future financing, if needed, and our ability to repay any future indebtedness when due; the impact of the regulatory environment in our industry and complexities with compliance related to such environment, including our ability to comply with complex regulatory requirements; our ability to maintain an effective system of internal control over financial reporting; our ability to respond to general economic conditions, including market interest rates; and other risks identified in Item 1A, "Risk Factors" in our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2022 and our other filings with the SEC.

These forward-looking statements are provided for illustrative purposes only and are not intended to serve as a guarantee, an assurance, a prediction or a definitive statement of fact or probability. Actual events and circumstances are difficult or impossible to predict and will differ from assumptions. Many actual events and circumstances are beyond the control of the Company. Forward-looking statements speak only as of the date they are made. While the Company may elect to update these forward-looking statements at some point in the future, the Company specifically disclaims any obligation to do so. These forward-looking statements should not be relied upon as representing the Company's assessments as of any date subsequent to the date of this report. Accordingly, undue reliance should not be placed upon the forward-looking statements.

Our Business

We are a digitally-native lifestyle and media brand founded and rooted in gaming and youth culture.

We are at the forefront of the global creator economy, which is an industry centered around innovative digital content development fueled by social media influencers, creators and businesses who monetize their content online. With a leading digital content platform created for and by Generation Z and Millennials, we have established a highly engaged and growing global fanbase, with social media reach (see our key performance indicator, "Total Reach") of over 512 million as of June 30, 2023, which number, as explained in our discussion of "Key Performance Indicators" also includes the accounts of individual members of FaZe's talent team.



We produce engaging content, merchandise, consumer products and experiences, and create advertising and sponsorship programs for leading national brands. With approximately 83% of our audience between the ages of 13-34 as of June 30, 2023, we have unlocked key relationships with a coveted demographic that has long proven difficult to reach for traditional media companies and advertisers. We have several revenue streams including brand sponsorships, content, consumer products, and Esports.

As the recognition of our brand is an important component to our success, we have obtained and protected a strategic set of intellectual property registrations and applications, including for our brand, throughout the world.

Our principal business operations are located in the United States, and we also have a location in Canada. We are assessing potential opportunities to expand our operational footprint in North America and internationally through strategic initiatives, including M&A transactions.

On July 19, 2022, we completed the Business Combination. At the closing of the Business Combination, we received approximately \$113.7 million in gross proceeds and \$57.8 million in net proceeds in connection with the Business Combination.

Compared to 2022, our revenues and gross profit in 2023 decreased. This change was primarily driven by decrease in the Brand sponsorship business and secondarily by Content business. Brand sponsorship revenue decreased by \$10.6 million primarily due to a lack of new brand deals and the delayed timing of renewals of existing sponsorship deals for the financial period 2023. Content revenue decreased by \$0.2, this reduction is related to a content library sale which occurred in 2022, in 2023 no content library sales have occurred. In addition, the Company had increased costs in compensation and benefits, stock compensation expense and professional services fees as a result of the growth of the business and of becoming a public company. As a result, Net Loss for the six months ended June 30, 2023 increased to \$28.8 million, compared to \$18.9 million for the six months ended June 30, 2022. See the "Results of Operations" subsection for further details. The following table summarizes our financial results for the three and six months ended June 30, 2023 and 2022.

		nths ended
	Jun	e 30,
(In thousands)	2023	2022
Total Revenues	\$ 11,689	\$ 18,805
Gross Profit	1,850	5,928
Net Loss	(14,356)	(9,322)
Adjusted EBITDA ⁽¹⁾	(6,715)	(3,626)
	Six mon	ths ended
	Jun	e 30,
(In thousands)	2023	2022
Total Revenues	\$ 24,239	\$ 34,609
Gross Profit	2,319	9,521
Net Loss	(28,396)	(18,864)
Adjusted EBITDA ⁽¹⁾	(16,677)	(9,759)

(1) Adjusted EBITDA is a non-GAAP financial measure. See "Non-GAAP Information" below for our definition of, and additional information about, adjusted EBITDA and for a reconciliation to net loss, the most directly comparable U.S. GAAP financial measure.

Key Performance Indicators

In addition to U.S. GAAP and non-GAAP financial measures, we regularly review several metrics, including the following key metrics, to evaluate our business, measure our performance, identify trends affecting our business, formulate financial plans and make strategic decisions. Our key metrics are calculated using internal company data based on the activity of fan accounts and the metrics described below. While these numbers are based on what we believe to be reasonable estimates of our fanbase for the applicable period of measurement, there are inherent challenges in measuring usage of our platform across large online and mobile populations around the world. The methodologies used to measure these metrics require significant judgment. Increases or decreases in our key performance indicators may not correspond with increases or decreases in our revenue.

Total Reach

Our Total Reach represents the aggregate number of user accounts, or "fans," that subscribe to or follow FaZe content across YouTube, Twitter, Instagram, TikTok and Twitch, measured at the end of the reporting period and based on publicly available data. Our calculation of Total Reach may count the same individual multiple times if an individual follows or subscribes to FaZe content on multiple platforms; therefore, our Total Reach metric may inflate the number of individuals, as opposed to user accounts, reached by our content. Therefore, we supplement our understanding of the reach of our content, as well as our monetization opportunities, with the Aggregate YouTube Subscribers metric, which only includes subscribers on our primary platform and is explained further in the following section. Nonetheless, we believe that Total Reach is a useful metric because, regardless of whether our content reaches an individual through one or multiple platforms or channels, we view each such instance as a unique opportunity to strengthen and, ultimately, to monetize our relationship with the individual accountholder, whether by selling consumer products online, by incrementally increasing our advertising revenue due to viewership or by inspiring attendance at our live events, among other opportunities. Further, one individual following us across multiple platforms could generally signal higher audience engagement, and as such may lead to higher monetization potential, than one individual following us on only one platform.

We find Total Reach to be a useful metric for predicting future revenues because, as an audience-driven company, we generally interpret an increase in our Total Reach to signal an overall increase in the strength of our brand and to represent a corresponding increase in the number of opportunities for our content to reach our audience and expose them to our brand, content and products, which may drive additional monetization opportunities through increased engagement with FaZe. Further, we believe the fact that an individual follows FaZe across multiple platforms or follows several FaZe content creators may signal their amenability to purchase our products, grow the FaZe community by engaging with other fans and continue consuming our content in the future. In addition, we believe each fan added to our Total Reach represents a new avenue through which we can reach additional fans as they spread awareness of our brand by sharing and posting about FaZe content to their own followers. Individuals who follow or subscribe to FaZe content on multiple platforms represent multiple such avenues, and the more their followers differ between platforms, the more avenues are opened to FaZe content. We believe an increase in Total Reach also signals our ability to attract additional sponsorships and sponsorship deals or sell consumer products. However, an increase in Total Reach may not directly result in an increase in content revenues. Our Total Reach includes fans of the channels of certain popular celebrity members of FaZe that we have contractually agreed not to directly monetize, including Calvin "Snoop Dogg" Cordozar Broadus Jr. An increase in Total Reach from fans on such channels will not directly result in an increase in content revenue. Nonetheless, we expect our partnerships with these celebrity members of FaZe to result in increased engagement as a result of cross-exposure to our brand through their channels, which strengthens the FaZe brand and which we believe will further increase our Total Reach and can indirectly increase our revenue over time. Additionally, when our Total Reach increases, our content and other revenues may not increase immediately given the lag time between when subscriptions are recorded and when we are able to monetize subscriptions, including generating Google AdSense revenues, selling consumer products and leveraging our Total Reach metric to attract additional sponsors and sponsorship deals. Conversely, a decrease in our Total Reach may be an indicator of an unfavorable trend in future revenues. Therefore, we use the Total Reach metric for revenue planning, although the numerical correlation between Total Reach and future revenues varies and cannot be precisely predicted in either the short term or long term.

The timing difference between a change in Total Reach and change in revenues may be particularly pronounced if the change in Total Reach metric reflects a large spike or large drop as the result of adding a channel to our network or removing a channel from our network. That is, if we sign a contract with a new talent member who has a large pre-existing pool of social media subscribers, our Total Reach will also increase as these pre-existing subscribers are added to our Total Reach metric. For example, our Total Reach increased significantly between March 31, 2022 and March 31, 2023, primarily due to Calvin "Snoop Dogg" Cordozar Broadus Jr. joining as a member of FaZe's talent network. Conversely, if talent members leave the FaZe network due to contract expiration or termination, we record an immediate decrease in our Total Reach in an amount equal to the Total Reach of the talent that left the FaZe network. When we have a spike or drop in Total Reach due to the various circumstances described above, we do not expect to necessarily see immediate spikes or drops in content and other revenues but may see future changes in revenues given the lag time described in the preceding paragraph.

	As of Jur	ne 30,
(In thousands)	2023	2022
Total Reach ⁽¹⁾	511,892	516,170
YouTube	132,820	134,207
Twitter	80,034	82,948
Instagram	178,407	178,030
TikTok	84,461	79,616
Twitch	36,170	41,369

(1) The Total Reach amount includes subscribers of channels for Calvin "Snoop Dogg" Cordozar Broadus Jr. and certain other celebrity talent that FaZe is not contractually allowed to directly monetize. Such channels contributed to a Total Reach of 210.6 million and 193.4 million as of June 30, 2023 and June 30, 2022, respectively. Therefore, channels that FaZe is contractually allowed to directly monetize contributed to a Total Reach of 301.3 million and 322.7 million as of June 30, 2022, respectively.

Aggregate YouTube Subscribers

Our Aggregate YouTube Subscribers metric is the number of subscribers our total talent pool has on their FaZe co-branded YouTube channels, the company programmed FaZe Clan YouTube channel, as well as the FaZe Affiliated channels measured at the end of the reporting period and based on publicly available data. Aggregate YouTube Subscribers includes subscribers for each YouTube channel programmed by talent members as well as company programmed YouTube channels. We consider each YouTube Subscriber to be a subscriber on YouTube, measured separately for each individual talent member. As such, one hypothetical subscriber may be included in several instances within the Aggregate YouTube Subscribers metric if that individual were to subscribe to the channels of multiple members of our talent pool.

We believe Aggregate YouTube Subscribers is a better approximation of our unique audience than other measures of reach available to us. That is, although Aggregate YouTube Subscribers may count the same individual subscriber multiple times if that individual subscribes to multiple FaZe talent members on YouTube, this metric does not include individuals who subscribe to FaZe across multiple platforms in the calculation. Also, the potential for inflation of Aggregate YouTube Subscribers due to the same individual subscribing to multiple FaZe talent members is partially offset by the omission of individuals who subscribe to FaZe only on platforms other than YouTube.

We believe an increase in Aggregate YouTube Subscribers signals an overall increase in the strength of our brand, which in turn signals our ability to attract additional sponsorships and sponsorship deals or sell consumer products. An increase in Aggregate YouTube Subscribers may not directly result in an increase in content revenues because our Aggregate YouTube Subscribers includes subscribers on channels that we are not contractually allowed to monetize. If the channels contributing to the increase in our Aggregate YouTube Subscribers are channels that FaZe is contractually allowed to monetize, then an increase in Aggregate YouTube Subscribers may directly result in an increase in content revenues, but if the channels contributing to the increase in Aggregate YouTube Subscribers are not channels that FaZe is contractually allowed to monetize, then an increase in Aggregate YouTube Subscribers strengthens the FaZe is contractually allowed to monetize, then an increase in Aggregate YouTube Subscribers strengthens the FaZe is contractually allowed to monetize, then an increase in Aggregate YouTube Subscribers strengthens the FaZe brand. Additionally, an increase in overall revenue over time because we believe the increase in Aggregate YouTube Subscribers strengthens the FaZe brand. Additionally, an increase in our Aggregate YouTube Subscribers may not correlate with current or historic revenues but may represent additional monetization opportunities across our various revenue streams. When our Aggregate YouTube Subscribers increase, our content and other revenues may not increase immediately, given the additional lag time before we are able to monetize the subscriptions, including generating Google AdSense revenues, selling consumer products, and leveraging our Aggregate YouTube Subscribers metric to attract additional sponsors and sponsorship deals. Conversely, a decrease in our Aggregate YouTube Subscribers may be an indicator of an unfavorable trend in future revenues. Therefore, we find the use of the Aggreg

The timing difference between a change in Aggregate YouTube Subscribers and a change in revenues may be particularly pronounced if the change in Aggregate YouTube Subscribers metric reflects a large spike or large drop as the result of adding a channel to our network or removing a channel from our network. For example, if we sign a contract with a new talent member who has a large pre-existing pool of YouTube subscribers, our Aggregate YouTube Subscribers will also increase as these pre-existing subscribers are added to our Aggregate YouTube Subscribers metric. Conversely, if talent members leave the FaZe network due to contract expiration or termination, we record an immediate decrease in our Aggregate YouTube subscribers metric in an amount equal to the YouTube subscribers of the talent that left the FaZe network. When we have a spike or drop in Aggregate YouTube Subscribers due to the various circumstances described above including, for instance, the addition of Calvin "Snoop Dogg" Cordozar Broadus, Jr. to FaZe's talent network in the first quarter of 2022, we do not expect to necessarily see immediate spikes or drops in content and other revenues but may see future changes in revenues given the lag time described in the preceding paragraph.

	As of Jun	ie 30,
(In thousands)	2023	2022
Aggregate YouTube Subscribers	132,820	134,207
Company Programmed FaZe Clan YouTube Channel Subscribers	8,929	8,850
FaZe Co-branded Channel Subscribers	113,712	116,040
FaZe Affiliated Channels ⁽¹⁾	10,179	9,317

(1) FaZe Affiliated Channels are channels that are not co-branded but are closely affiliated with our talent. This includes Calvin "Snoop Dogg" Cordozar Broadus Jr., All Grown Up, and Nuke Squad.

Average Revenue per YouTube Subscriber ("ARPU")

ARPU is defined as our total consolidated U.S. GAAP revenues for the selected period divided by our total Aggregate YouTube Subscribers as of period end. We believe ARPU is an indicator of how effective we are at monetizing our Aggregate YouTube Subscribers. A high ARPU may reflect that we are monetizing our audience effectively and, conversely, a low ARPU may reflect the opportunity for additional monetization with respect to our Aggregate YouTube Subscribers. Please see above for the assumptions underlying the calculation of our Aggregate YouTube Subscribers.

While we believe changes in our total consolidated U.S. GAAP revenues are correlated with our Aggregate YouTube Subscribers over the long term, there may be short term dislocations in the metric due to timing differences in audience growth and monetization. For example, our Aggregate YouTube Subscribers may grow more quickly when compared to our revenues due to the lag time related to the monetization of our Aggregate YouTube Subscribers, as described in the "Aggregate YouTube Subscribers" subsection above, resulting in lower or unchanged period over period ARPU, especially if we gain additional Aggregate YouTube Subscribers toward the end of a reporting period. Conversely, if we lose Aggregate YouTube Subscribers toward the end of a reporting period, we may see decreased or relatively flat Aggregate YouTube Subscribers, whereas the full period will not reflect the revenue impact of the decreased monetization potential.

Additionally, because ARPU is measured as revenue for a particular period over a point-in-time metric, Aggregate YouTube Subscribers, ARPU will generally be smaller for interim time periods than annual periods. Therefore, ARPU for interim periods should only be compared to interim periods of the same length, and annual periods should only be compared to other annual periods.

In future periods, we expect to increase the monetization of our Aggregate YouTube Subscribers through growth in our existing monetization channels and expansion into new ways of monetizing our audience, all of which we believe will be aided by additional access to capital and a more established brand. Therefore, we expect our ARPU to increase over time.

	Six months ended			
	_	June	e 30,	
(In thousands)	20)23	_	2022
ARPU	\$	0.19	\$	0.52

Total Number of Significant Sponsors

Total Number of Significant Sponsors is defined as the number of sponsorship deals directly contracted with FaZe that have a contractual value of over \$0.5 million and are active during the reported period. This metric helps us forecast future revenue, since we know the contract value of a sponsorship when the contract is signed but recognize the revenue ratably over the sponsorship term. At the same time, if we sign a significant sponsorship deal towards the end of a reportable period, we may not recognize a significant portion of the revenue until the following period.

We believe this metric provides insight into the drivers of changes in our brand sponsorships revenue. Our brand sponsorships revenue is most closely aligned with this metric, as our brand sponsorship revenue is correlated with increases in Total Number of Significant Sponsors.

	Three months June 30	
	2023	2022
Total Significant Sponsors	5	10
	Six months o June 30	
	2023	2022
Total Significant Sponsors	9	11

Key Factors Affecting Our Current and Future Results

Our financial position and results of operations depend to a significant extent on the following factors:

Evolving Digital Economy

Our success has depended and will continue to depend on our ability to remain at the forefront in digital-entertainment trends, including social media.

We believe we are well-positioned as a digitally native lifestyle and media platform in the global content industry, which continues to evolve towards digital and social platforms each of which are poised for further growth.

We attribute our growth in part to the diverse content we have developed and produced in the form of digital media, social media, consumer products sales, and livestreaming events distributed across several platforms including YouTube, Twitch,, Instagram, Twitter, and TikTok. Further, our brand, which is a digital native lifestyle brand rooted in gaming and youth culture, is well-positioned for future opportunities in areas such as subscription offerings, live events, fan clubs, virtual dining concepts, game publisher collaborations, Web3 and the general growth and adoption of the metaverse, and interconnected digital reality.

As a leading digital content platform created for and by Generation Z and Millennials, we have established a highly engaged growing global fanbase, with a Total Reach of over 512 million as of June 30, 2023, including those of individual members of FaZe (see "Key Performance Indicators — Total Reach").

Ability to Recruit and Retain Talent

Our talent pool creates content for, and forms other partnerships with, our brand. Our diverse talent pool of creators and players are the face of our brand. Therefore, our current and future growth depends on our ability to retain our current talent and attract new talent. However, as we have grown our talent roster, we have made sure to not rely on any single individual to carry the brand, but rather have worked to develop a broad talent base, where each person is able to grow their own brand within the overall FaZe platform.

Competitive Landscape

Due to our digitally native lifestyle and media platform and diverse sources of monetization, our business may face competition from online content creators, lifestyle brands, digital media companies, traditional sports teams, or other Esports companies. If more direct competitors emerge in the marketplace, our performance and results of operations will depend on our ability to retain market share through activities including generating innovative content and forming and retaining strategic partnerships.

COVID-19

Due to the COVID-19 pandemic, our operating results for the three months ended June 30, 2023 and 2022 may not be comparable to past and future periods. As a result of changed consumer behavior under COVID-19 lock-down orders, the already-growing online gaming and digital content industries saw a major uptick in video game usage, streaming viewership, content viewership, console sales, and more users on many gaming platforms. This helped further accelerate the pre-pandemic growth in popularity of our content creators and the FaZe content channels, and made the content we offer a bigger part of mainstream digital entertainment. On average, our content creators have seen an increase in viewership since the start of the pandemic and while still strong, viewership on FaZe's YouTube channel and certain of FaZe's talent YouTube channels is down from the highest levels experienced during pandemic stay-at-home measures.



Moreover, the fact that most of our products and services do not involve physical customer interaction may have provided us a competitive advantage during the COVID-19 pandemic, as customers can access most of our services and product offerings while social distancing or without any physical presence. As in-person entertainment has re-gained popularity, we may face increased competition and see drops in engagement as it relates to our content and brand sponsorship revenue streams. Esports revenues increased as government restrictions surrounding in-person events decreased.

The COVID-19 pandemic impacted our supply chain operations and continues to do so to a limited extent. However, we expect supply chain costs and delivery times to return at or near pre-pandemic levels in the near-term. Such COVID-19 related supply chain issues have not materially affected our results of operations, capital resources, outlook or business goals and have had marginal and immaterial impact on our sales, profits and liquidity.

We will continue to actively monitor the impact of the pandemic on our business and may take further actions to modify our practices accordingly.

Overall Market and Economic Conditions

Changing market and economic conditions, including as a result of the ongoing COVID-19 pandemic, rising interest rates and inflation, may positively or negatively impact our revenues, which depend on discretionary spending from consumers and corporate sponsors. Much of our business is resistant to changes in disposable consumer income, as consumers do not currently need to pay to access most of our content. However, in periods of slowing economic recovery or recession, decreases in disposable corporate income could negatively impact our revenues if companies decrease sponsorship and advertising spend. Our consumer products business is dependent on consumer discretionary spending, which is highly sensitive to changing market conditions, and a decline in discretionary spending could have an adverse impact on our results.

Key Components of Sales and Expenses

Revenue

We have the following major revenue types:

• <u>Brand Sponsorships:</u> We offer advertisers an association with the FaZe brand, which we deliver through various promotional vehicles that are highly tailored to reach our target audience. These vehicles include, but are not limited to, online advertising, livestream announcements, content generation, social media posts, logo placement on FaZe's official merchandise, and special appearances by members of our talent network. Brand deals are made through the FaZe sales team and provide the sponsor an association with our brand across the FaZe platform, including the full roster of FaZe talent. Revenues from our larger brand sponsorship agreements are typically based on a term and are recognized ratably over the contract term. Payment terms and conditions vary by contract type, but payments are generally due periodically throughout the term of the contract. Some smaller sponsorship deals are based on a specific deliverable and not a term, and are recognized and invoiced when delivered.

We also offer talent deals, which are typically smaller in size than brand deals. Talent deals are made directly with individual FaZe talent members to promote a brand or product within content created by the selected talent. These deals are often sourced and negotiated by FaZe employees and include FaZe as a counterparty. Payment terms are similar to our brand deals, with talent receiving a contractually negotiated percent of the revenue as a fee.

• <u>Content</u>: We generate original content that we monetize through Google's AdSense service, which permits Google to place paid advertisements on FaZe branded YouTube sites. Revenue is generated when the advertisement is viewed on a "cost per view" or "cost per click" basis. Each time a fan views a FaZe-programmed YouTube page, Google will display an advertisement to the fan. Depending on the type of advertisement the advertiser agrees to with Google, the advertiser agrees to pay Google based on the number of views or the number of times a fan clicks on the advertisement. This cost per view or cost per click can vary substantially depending on the channel, content, and seasonality. Google pays us a percentage of what Google charges the advertiser, and we receive reporting from Google, which we use to recognize revenue on a revenue-perthousand playbacks basis, which represents a blend of cost per view and cost per click advertisements.



- <u>Consumer Products</u>: We sell consumer products directly to end users online (predominantly on our website but also on other websites, including those of our partners) and at events.
- <u>Esports</u>: Our Esports revenue consists of league participation revenue, prize money, player transfer fee revenue, and licensing of intellectual property revenue. League participation revenue is generated from our participation in closed Esports leagues, which historically share net revenue between all partnered teams on a pro rata basis, with FaZe receiving between 4% and 8%, subject to a minimum guarantee. Prize money is earned by competing in organized competitions and successfully placing at a level where the organizer has offered a prize. Prize money is typically paid to FaZe by the competition organizer and we will then distribute a percentage of the money to players based on contractually agreed terms. Player transfer fee revenue is earned through player transfer agreements which compensate FaZe for the release of a team member from their agreement with FaZe. Licensing of intellectual property revenue is royalty revenue in connection with the usage of our brand logo during each game or tournament.

We expect to grow our revenues primarily through increased organic growth as our brand builds momentum, which results from engagement of our talent with our audience, building strategic partnerships and generating new, innovative content and products.

Cost of Revenue

Cost of revenue primarily consists of amounts paid to talent and other contractors, as we perform the underlying services related to satisfying the performance obligations under our agreements. It also includes other costs, such as those related to textiles, labor, and license fees associated with consumer products.

We expect our cost of revenue to increase primarily due to the increased volume of new strategic partnerships and the organic growth of our other revenue initiatives.

General and Administrative

General and administrative costs consist primarily of personnel-related expenses, rent and premises costs, professional service fees, and other general corporate expenses.

We are incurring higher general and administrative expenses as a result of operating as a public company, including expenses related to compliance with the rules and regulations of the SEC and stock exchange listing standards, additional insurance expenses, investor relations activities, and other administrative and professional services. We are constantly reviewing the size of our general and administrative function to support the growth of our business and other costs associated with being a public company and have implemented cost savings initiatives to reduce general and administrative expenses. It is possible, however, that our general and administrative expenses will increase in absolute dollars as our business grows.

Sales and Marketing

Sales and marketing costs consist primarily of promotional, public relations, and advertising expenses. Sales and marketing costs also include other general marketing expenses.

Interest Expense, Net

We incurred interest expense from our outstanding debt obligations, including our senior convertible promissory note issued in 2020, our other convertible promissory notes issued in 2020 and 2021, the PPP loan (defined below) and the 2022 B. Riley Term Loan (defined below). On July 19, 2022, we completed the Business Combination, upon which all convertible notes were converted into common stock and other debts were paid in full with the proceeds of the Merger. After the consummation of the Business Combination on July 19, 2022 and as of June 30, 2023, the Company does not have any outstanding long-term debt. Debt agreements are explained further in the "Liquidity and Capital Resources" section below.



Change in Fair Value of Warrant Liabilities

We incur a change in fair value of warrant liabilities as a result of remeasuring our warrant liabilities each reporting period. See "Note 6, Private Placement Warrants and Recurring Fair Value Measurements, of the notes to the Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements for additional information.

Other (Income)/Expense

Other (income)/expense consists primarily of miscellaneous expenses and foreign currency gain or loss.

Results of Operations

The following table sets forth a summary of our consolidated results of operations for the periods indicated, and the respective changes between comparative periods.

	The three months ended June 30,				
(In thousands, except for percentages)	2023	2022	\$ Change	% Change	
Total revenues	11,689	18,805	(7,116)	(37.8)%	
Cost of revenues	9,839	12,877	(3,038)	(23.6)%	
Gross Profit	1,850	5,928	(4,078)	(68.8)%	
Operating Expenses:					
General and administrative	16,135	11,058	5,077	45.9%	
Sales and marketing	142	933	(791)	(84.8)%	
Impairment of content assets	-	1,073	(1,073)	(100.0)%	
Loss from operations	(14,427)	(7,136)	(7,291)	102.2%	
Other (income)/expense:					
Interest expense, net	(198)	2,181	(2,379)	(109.1)%	
Change in fair value of warrant liabilities	-	-	-	-	
Other (income)/expense	127	5	122	2440.0%	
Total other (income)/expense:	(71)	2,186	(2,257)	(103.2)%	
Net Income (Loss)	(14,356)	(9,322)	(5,034)	(54.0)%	

	The six months ended June 30,					
(In thousands, except for percentages)	2023	2022	\$ Change	% Change		
Total revenues	24,239	34,609	(10,370)	(30.0)%		
Cost of revenues	21,920	25,088	(3,168)	(12.6)%		
Gross Profit	2,319	9,521	(7,202)	(75.6)%		
Operating Expenses:						
General and administrative	30,012	21,186	8,826	41.7%		
Sales and marketing	355	2,078	(1,723)	(82.9)%		
Impairment of content assets		1,073	(1,073)	(100.0)%		
Loss from operations	(28,048)	(14,816)	(13,232)	89.3%		
Other (income)/expense:						
Interest expense, net	(360)	4,032	(4,392)	(108.9)%		
Change in fair value of warrant liabilities	(13)	-	(13)	(100.0)%		
Other (income)/expense	721	16	705	4406.3%		
Total other (income)/expense:	348	4,048	(3,700)	(91.4)%		
Net Income (Loss)	(28,396)	(18,864)	(9,532)	(50.5)%		



Comparison of the three months ended June 30, 2023 and 2022

Net Income (Loss)

Net loss increased by \$5.0 million for the three months ended June 30, 2023 compared to the three months ended June 30, 2022. The Company's revenues decreased by \$7.1 million while general and administrative expenses increased by \$5.1 million in total.

Revenues

Revenues decreased by \$7.1 million, or 38% for the three months ended June 30, 2023 compared to the three months ended June 30, 2022. This change was primarily driven by decrease in the Brand sponsorships business and secondarily by Content business. Brand sponsorships revenue decreased by \$8.8 million primarily due to a lack of new sponsorship deals and the delay of renewals for existing sponsorship deals for the financial period 2023. Content revenue increased by \$1.5 million mainly due to increase in Adsense revenue of \$1.1 million.

The following table presents the Company's revenue by type for the three months ended June 30, 2023 and 2022:

	Three months ended June 30,					
(In thousands, except for percentages)		2023		2022	\$ Change	% Change
Brand sponsorships	\$	4,128	\$	12,923	(8,795)	(68.1)%
Content		3,314		1,861	1,453	78.1%
Consumer products		25		1,454	(1,429)	(98.3)%
Esports		4,208		2,538	1,670	65.8%
Other		14		29	(15)	(51.7)%
Total revenue	\$	11,689	\$	18,805	(7,116)	(37.8)%

Cost of Revenues

Cost of revenue decreased by \$3.0 million, or 24% for the three months ended June 30, 2023 compared to the three months ended June 30, 2022. Content costs decreased by \$0.7 primarily due to a lower output of content that is not allocable to other lines of business, such as Brand sponsorships or Esports. The consumer products costs decreased \$1.2 million was due to a lower cost of goods sold. The decrease in Esports costs of \$0.3 million was due to less prize money costs provided to talent members of \$0.2 million.

General and Administrative

General and administrative expenses increased by \$5.1 million, or 46% for the three months ended June 30, 2023 compared to the three months ended June 30, 2022, primarily due to the cost of becoming a public company, and an increase in compliance and operational staffing. Our compensation and benefits costs increased by \$3.7 million due to increased salaries and one time severance costs with respect to company restructuring. For the three months ended June 30, 2023, we also experienced a \$4.5 million increase in non-cash stock compensation expense due to the vesting of stock option grants made in the first quarter of 2023 and the accelerated vesting of various grants. Non-legal professional service fees decreased \$0.1 million, in connection with better cost management of our business. Insurance expenses increased by \$1 million, rent and premises costs decreased by \$0.2 million, depreciation and amortization decreased by \$0.9 million.

Sales and Marketing

Sales and marketing expenses decreased by \$0.8 million for the three months ended June 30, 2023 compared to the three months ended June 30, 2022, primarily due to an overall decrease in marketing activities.

Interest Expense, Net

Net interest expense decreased by \$2.4 million, for the three months ended June 30, 2023 compared to the three months ended June 30, 2022. As result of the Business Combination, all convertible notes were converted into common stock and other debts were paid in cash with the proceeds from the Business Combination. After the consummation of the Business Combination on July 19, 2022 and as of June 30, 2023, the Company does not have any outstanding long-term debt. Debt agreements are explained further in the "Liquidity and Capital Resources" section below.

Other, net

Other expense increased by \$0.1 million for the three months ended June 30, 2023 compared to the three months ended June 30, 2022.

Comparison of the six months ended June 30, 2023 and 2022

Net Income (Loss)

Net loss increased by \$9.5 million for the six months ended June 30, 2023 compared to the six months ended June 30, 2022. The Company's revenues decreased by \$10.4 million while general and administrative expenses increased by \$8.8 million in total.



Revenues

Revenues decreased by \$10.4 million, or 30% for the six months ended June 30, 2023 compared to the six months ended June 30, 2022. This change was primarily driven by decrease in the Brand sponsorships business and secondarily by Consumer products business. Brand sponsorships revenue decreased by \$10.6 million primarily due to a lack of new sponsorship deals and the delay in renewals of existing sponsorship deals for the financial period 2023. Consumer products revenue decreased by \$1.4 million, primarily due to a decrease in the amount of new products drops compared to the six months ended June 30, 2022.

The following table presents the Company's revenue by type for the six months ended June 30, 2023 and 2022:

	Six months ended June 30,					
(In thousands, except for percentages)	2023		2022		\$ Change	% Change
Brand sponsorships	\$	10,391	\$	20,982	(10,591)	(50.5)%
Content		6,342		6,543	(201)	(3.1)%
Consumer products		413		1,857	(1,444)	(77.8)%
Esports		7,055		4,963	2,092	42.2%
Other		38		264	(226)	(85.6)%
Total revenue	\$	24,239	\$	34,609	(10,370)	(30.0)%

Cost of Revenues

Cost of revenue decreased by \$3.2 million, or 13% for the six months ended June 30, 2023 compared to the six months ended June 30, 2022. This change was due to a decrease of consumer products cost of \$1.2 million primarily as a function of lower consumer products revenues. Other costs decreased by \$4.4 million for the six months ended June 30, 2023 which is offset partially by the increase of Sponsorship and Esports costs of \$1.8 million and \$1.1 million, respectively, compared to the six months ended June 30, 2022. The increase in Esports costs of \$1.1 million was primarily due prize money costs provided to talent members.

General and Administrative

General and administrative expenses increased by \$8.8 million, or 42% for the six months ended June 30, 2023 compared to the six months ended June 30, 2022, primarily due to the cost of becoming a public company, and an increase in compliance and operational staffing. Our compensation and benefits costs increased by \$5.8 million due to increased salaries and one time severance with respect to company restructuring. For the six months ended June 30, 2023, we also experienced a \$6.0 million increase in non-cash stock compensation expense due to the vesting of stock option grants made in the second quarter of 2023 and the accelerated vesting of various grants. Legal professional fees increased by \$0.2 million. Non-legal professional service fees decreased \$0.4 million, in connection with better cost management of our business. Insurance expenses increased by \$2 million, rent and premises costs decreased by \$0.2 million, depreciation and amortization decreased by \$0.5 million.

Sales and Marketing

Sales and marketing expenses decreased by \$1.7 million for the six months ended June 30, 2023 compared to the six months ended June 30, 2022, primarily due to an overall decrease in marketing activities.

Interest Expense, Net

Net interest expense decreased by \$4.4 million, for the six months ended June 30, 2023 compared to the six months ended June 30, 2022. As result of the Business Combination, all convertible notes were converted into common stock and other debts were paid in cash with the proceeds from the Business Combination. After the consummation of the Business Combination on July 19, 2022 and as of June 30, 2023, the Company does not have any outstanding long-term debt. Debt agreements are explained further in the "Liquidity and Capital Resources" section below.



Other, net

Other expense increased by \$0.7 million for the six months ended June 30, 2023 compared to the six months ended June 30, 2022, other expense primarily includes a legal settlement related to miscellaneous expenses related to a pre-Business Combination matter, the details of which are confidential.

Non-GAAP Information

Adjusted EBITDA, a non-GAAP measure, is a performance measure that we use to supplement our results presented in accordance with U.S. GAAP. Adjusted EBITDA is defined as net loss before share-based compensation expense, foreign currency gains and losses, interest expense, impairment of content assets, depreciation and amortization, change in fair value of warrant liabilities, loss on debt extinguishment, and non-recurring, non-operating expenses, such as severance. Adjusted EBITDA is used by the FaZe board and management as a key factor in determining the quality of our earnings (loss).

Adjusted EBITDA is a performance measure that we believe is useful to investors and analysts because it helps illustrate the underlying financial and business trends relating to our core, recurring results of operations and also enhances comparability between periods.

Adjusted EBITDA is not a recognized measure under U.S. GAAP and is not intended to be a substitute for any U.S. GAAP financial measure and, as calculated, may not be comparable to other similarly titled measures of performance of other companies in other industries or within the same industry. Investors should exercise caution in comparing our non-GAAP measure to any similarly titled measure used by other companies. This non-GAAP measure excludes certain items required by U.S. GAAP and should not be considered as an alternative to information reported in accordance with U.S. GAAP.

The table below presents our adjusted EBITDA, reconciled to our net loss for the periods indicated.

		Three months ended June 30,				
(In thousands)	2023		2022			
Net loss	\$ (14,35	6) \$	(9,322)			
Adjusted for:						
Share-based compensation expense	5,96	4	1,509			
Restructuring severance/recruiting/retention expense	1,15	6	501			
Foreign exchange loss	-	_				
Interest (income) expense	(19	8)	2,181			
Depreciation and amortization of property and equipment	52	9	1,371			
Amortization of intangible asset	6	2	129			
Change in fair value of warrant liabilities ⁽¹⁾	-	_	_			
Other, net	12	7	5			
Adjusted EBITDA	\$ (6,71	5) \$	(3,626)			

		Six months ended June 30,			
(In thousands)	ds)			2022	
Net loss	\$	(28,396)	\$	(18,864)	
Adjusted for:					
Share-based compensation expense		8,637		2,659	
Restructuring severance/recruiting/retention expense		1,474		662	
Foreign exchange loss		1			
Interest expense		(360)		4,032	
Depreciation and amortization of property and equipment		993		1,493	
Amortization of intangible asset		265		243	
Change in fair value of warrant liabilities ⁽¹⁾		(13)		—	
Other, net		721		16	
Adjusted EBITDA	\$	(16,677)	\$	(9,759)	

(1) Represents the change in the fair value of the Private Placement Warrants liability. (See Note 6 to the consolidated financial statements)

Liquidity and Capital Resources

Our ability to expand and grow our business in the short and long term will depend on many factors, including our working capital needs and the evolution of our operating cash flows.

We measure liquidity in terms of our ability to fund the cash requirements of our business operations, including working capital and capital expenditure needs, contractual obligations and other commitments, with cash flows from operations and other sources of funding. We have financed our operations primarily through the proceeds from the Business Combination and PIPE offering, the sale of convertible preferred stock, and through debt agreements with third party lenders prior to the closing of the Business Combination. See below for a summary of our material debt and equity financing arrangements.

While the potential economic impact brought by, and the duration of, the COVID-19 pandemic, as well as a more uncertain macro-economic environment than during the closing of the Business Combination are difficult to assess or predict, the impact of these events may reduce our ability to access capital, which could negatively impact our short-term and long-term liquidity. Nonetheless, the Company believes it has sufficient resources to fund its operations at least until twelve months from the date of issuance of these financial statements.

Our future short- and long-term capital requirements will depend on several factors, including but not limited to, the rate of our growth, our ability to attract and retain fans and brand sponsorships and their willingness to pay for our services. Further, we may enter into future arrangements to acquire or invest in businesses, products, services and strategic partnerships. To the extent that our current resources are insufficient to satisfy our cash requirements, we may need to seek additional equity or debt financing. If the needed financing is not available, or if the terms of financing are less desirable than we expect, we may be forced to scale back our existing operations and growth plans, which could have an adverse impact on our business and financial prospects and could raise substantial doubt about our ability to continue as a going concern.

As of June 30, 2023, our principal sources of liquidity were our cash in the amount of \$21.2 million.

As of June 30, 2023, the Company had 173,333 private placement warrants outstanding with an exercise price of \$11.50 per share. The Private Placement Warrants are identical to the Public Warrants, described in Note 7, Equity, of the notes to the consolidated financial statements, except that the Private Placement Warrants (including the common stock underlying the Private Placement Warrants) were not transferable, assignable or salable until August 18, 2022 and they are not redeemable by the Company for cash so long as they are held by the sponsor or its permitted transferees. During the six months ended June 30, 2023, there was no exercise of any Private Placement Warrants.

Other Contractual Obligations, Commitments and Contingencies

We may be party to various claims in the normal course of business. Legal fees and other costs associated with such actions are expensed as incurred. We assess the need to record a liability for litigation and other loss contingencies, with reserve estimates recorded if we determine that a loss related to the matter is both probable and reasonably estimable. Legal settlements were immaterial for the three and six months ended June 30, 2023 and 2022.

Our future contractual commitments related to future minimum payments for non-cancelable operating lease obligations at June 30, 2023 are \$0.8 million, \$1.1 million for 2024, and \$0.0 million for 2025 and thereafter.

Cash Flows — The six months ended June 30, 2023 and June 30, 2022

The following table summarizes our cash flows for the periods indicated (In thousands):

	Six months ended June 30,					
		2023		2022	\$ Change	% Change
Net cash used in operating activities	\$	(16,629)	\$	(25,678)	9,049	35.2%
Net cash used in investing activities		(136)		(3,828)	3,692	96.4%
Net cash provided by financing activities		783		18,382	(17,599)	(95.7)%
Net increase (decrease) in cash and restricted cash		(15,982)	_	(11,124)	(4,858)	(43.7)%
Cash and restricted cash, beginning of period		37,807		17,618	20,189	114.6%
Cash and restricted cash, end of period	\$	21,825	\$	6,494	15,331	236.1%

Cash Flows Used in Operating Activities

We used \$16.6 million less in cash for operating activities in the six months ended June 30, 2023 compared with \$25.7 million used in the three months ended June 30, 2022, a decrease of \$9.0 million. This change was largely related to the changes in net loss of \$9.9 million explained in the "Results of Operations" section, offset by the impact of various non-cash charges of \$11.8 million explained in further detail below.

Net cash used in operating activities was \$16.6 million for the six months ended June 30, 2023. Our net loss of \$28.8 million was partially comprised of non-cash charges including: stock-based compensation expense of \$8.6 million, depreciation and amortization of \$1.3 million, and bad debt expense of \$1.2 million. Additionally, during the six months ended June 30, 2023, changes in operating assets and liabilities decreased cash flows used in operations by \$35 thousand, primarily due to a combination of an increase in accounts receivable of \$4.5 million, a decrease in contract assets of \$2.9 million, an increase in prepaid expenses and other assets of \$3.4 million, a decrease in accounts payable and accrued expenses of \$2.5 million and a decrease in contract liabilities of \$1.5 million.

Net cash used in operating activities was \$25.7 million for the six months ended June 30, 2022. Our net loss of \$18.9 million was partially offset by noncash interest expenses of \$4.0 million, stock-based compensation expense of \$2.7 million, and depreciation and amortization of \$0.7 million. Additionally, during the six months ended June 30, 2022, changes in operating assets and liabilities used cash flows from operations of \$14.6 million, primarily due to an increase in accounts receivable of 2.5 million, as well as an increase in accounts payable and accrued expenses of \$7.2 million and contract liabilities of \$5.1 million.



Cash Flows Used in Investing Activities

We generated \$3.7 million more in cash from investing activities in the six months ended June 30, 2023 compared with the three months ended June 30, 2022 primarily due to decrease in purchases of property, plant and equipment of \$3.4 million and purchases of intangible assets of \$0.3 million.

Net cash used in investing activities of \$0.1 million for the six months ended June 30, 2023 was due to purchases and leasehold improvements of property, plant and equipment of \$0.1 million.

Net cash used in investing activities of \$3.8 million for the six months ended June 30, 2022, was primarily due to purchases of property, plant, and equipment of \$3.5 million and purchases of intangible assets of \$0.4 million.

Cash Flows Provided by Financing Activities

We generated \$17.6 million less cash from financing activities in the six months ended June 30, 2023 compared with the three months ended June 30, 2022, primarily due to proceeds from issuance of term loan of \$20.0 million and proceeds from the issuance of common stock in connection with the exercise of stock options of \$0.1 million.

Net cash provided by financing activities of \$0.8 million for the six months ended June 30, 2023 was due to proceeds from the issuance of common stock in connection with the exercise of stock options of \$0.8 million.

Net cash provided by financing activities of \$18.4 million for the six months ended June 30, 2022, was primarily due to proceeds from loan principal of \$20.0 million and debt issuance costs of \$0.1 million.

Critical Accounting Policies and Estimates

Our Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements have been prepared in accordance with U.S. generally accepted accounting principles, or U.S. GAAP. Preparation of the financial statements requires our management to make judgments, estimates and assumptions that impact the reported amount of net sales and expenses, assets and liabilities and the disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities. We consider an accounting judgment, estimate or assumption to be critical when (1) the estimate or assumption is complex in nature or requires a high degree of judgment and (2) the use of different judgments, estimates and assumptions could have a material impact on our consolidated financial statements. Our significant accounting policies are described in Note 2, Summary of Significant Accounting Policies, of the notes to the consolidated financial statements. Our critical accounting policies are described below.

Revenue Recognition and Contract Balances

Effective January 1, 2019, we adopted the new accounting standard under ASC 606, Revenue from Contracts with Customers ("ASC 606") and related amendments, using the modified retrospective transition method for all contracts. Based on our assessment, the adoption of ASC 606 did not have a material impact to the Company's Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements and there were no material differences between the Company's adoption of ASC 606 and its historic accounting under ASC 605, Revenue Recognition. For further information regarding the impact of the adoption of this standard, refer to Note 3, Summary of Significant Accounting Policies, of the notes to the consolidated financial statements.



The below describes our revenue recognition policies and significant judgments in further detail:

Brand Sponsorships

The Company offers advertisers a full range of promotional initiatives, including but not limited to online advertising, livestream announcements, content generation, social media posts, logo placement on the Company's official merchandise, and special appearances of members of the Company's talent roster. The Company's brand sponsorship agreements may include multiple services that are capable of being individually distinct; however, the intended benefit is an association with the Company's brand, and the services are not distinct within the context of the contracts. Revenues from brand sponsorship agreements are recognized ratably over the contract term. Payment terms and conditions vary, but payments are generally due periodically throughout the term of the contract. In instances where the timing of revenue recognition differs from the timing of billing, management has determined the brand sponsorship agreements generally do not include a significant financing component.

Content

The Company and our talent roster generate and produce original content, which the Company monetizes through Google's AdSense service. Revenue is variable and is earned when the visitor views or "clicks through" on the advertisement. The amount of revenue earned is reported to the Company monthly and is recognized upon receipt of the report of viewership activity. Payment terms and conditions vary, but payments are generally due within 30 to 45 days after the end of each month.

The Company grants exclusive licenses to customers for certain content produced by the Company's talent. The Company grants the customer a license to the intellectual property, which is the content and its use in generating advertising revenues, for a pre-determined period, for an amount paid by the customer, in most instances, upon execution of the contract. The Company's only performance obligation is to license the content for use in generating advertising revenues, and the Company recognizes the full contract amount at the point at which the Company provides the customer access to the content, which is at the execution of the contract. The Company has no further performance obligations under these types of contracts and does not anticipate generating any additional revenue from these arrangements apart from the contract amount.

Principal Versus Agent Considerations

A significant amount of the Company's brand sponsorship and content revenues are generated from the Company's talent, who are under multi-year contracts. The Company's talent consists of independent contractors, whose compensation is tied to the revenue that they generate. Management has evaluated the terms of the Company's brand sponsorship and content agreements and has concluded the Company is the principal. Brand sponsorship and content revenues are reported on a gross basis, while revenue-sharing and other fees paid to the Company's talent are recorded as cost of revenues. The Company owns the brand and intellectual property, takes primary responsibility for delivery of services, and exercises control over content generation and monetization. The Company contracts directly with Google on its Company operated channels, and the talent contracts directly with Google on their own channels. As part of the Company's contracts with its talent, the Company agrees to serve talent's management company as it relates to specific types of work the talent may perform, including content creation and advertising revenue generated from the content. While the talent owns the content they create while they are under contract with the Company, the talent grants the Company an exclusive perpetual license to the content, and the Company grants limited usage rights of that content back to the talent, conditional upon them complying with their contract. Furthermore, all income earned from services provided by the talent related to gaming, Esports, content creation, or the business of the Company's contracts with its talent contracts with talent, the Company's contracts with its talent specify rules and restrictions on the content the talent can create and post. As such, through its contracts with talent, the Company is the principal because the Company is the entity exercising primary control over the content generated in the YouTube channels being monetized.

Consumer Products

The Company earns consumer products revenue from sales of the Company's consumer products on the Company's website or at live or virtual events. Revenues are recognized at a point in time, as control is transferred to the customer upon shipment. The Company offers customer returns and discounts through a third-party distributor and accounts for this as a reduction to revenue. The Company does not offer loyalty programs or other sales incentive programs that are material to revenue recognition. Payment is due at the time of sale. The Company has outsourced the design, manufacturing, fulfillment, distribution, and sale of the Company's consumer products to a third party in exchange for royalties based on the amount of revenue generated. Management evaluated the terms of the agreement to determine whether the Company's consumer products revenues should be reported gross or net of royalties paid. Key indicators that management evaluated in determining whether the Company is the principal in the sale (gross reporting) or an agent (net reporting) include, but are not limited to:

• the Company is the party that is primarily responsible for fulfilling the promise to provide the specified good or service,



- the Company has inventory risk before the good is transferred to the customer, and
- the Company is the party that has discretion in establishing pricing for the specified good or service.

Based on management's evaluation of the above indicators, the Company reports consumer products revenues on a gross basis.

Esports

<u>League Participation</u>: Generally, the Company has one performance obligation—to participate in the overall Esport event—because the underlying activities do not have standalone value absent the Company's participation in the tournament or event. Revenue from prize winnings and profit-share agreements is variable and is highly uncertain. The Company recognizes revenue at the point in time when the uncertainty is resolved.

<u>Player Transfer Fees:</u> Player transfer agreements include a fixed fee and may include a variable fee component. The Company recognizes the fixed portion of revenue from transfer fees upon satisfaction of the Company's performance obligation, which coincides with the execution of the related agreement. The variable portion of revenue is considered highly uncertain and is recognized at the point in time when the uncertainty is resolved.

Licensing of Intellectual Property: The Company's licenses of intellectual property generate royalties that are recognized in accordance with the royalty recognition constraint. Royalty revenue is recognized at the time when the sale occurs.

Transaction Price Allocated to the Remaining Performance Obligations

For the estimated revenue expected to be recognized in the future related to performance obligations that are unsatisfied (or partially unsatisfied) as of June 30, 2023, the Company applies the allowable practical expedient and does not disclose information about remaining performance obligations that have original expected durations of one year or less. Revenue expected to be recognized in the future related to performance obligations that have original expected durations greater than one year that are unsatisfied (or partially unsatisfied) as of June 31, 2023 were not material.

Warrants

The Company accounts for warrants as either equity-classified or liability-classified instruments based on an assessment of the warrant's specific terms and applicable authoritative guidance in ASC 480, Distinguishing Liabilities from Equity and ASC 815, Derivatives and Hedging. Warrants that meet the definition of a derivative financial instrument and the equity scope exception in ASC 815-10-15-74(a) are classified as equity, and are not subject to remeasurement provided that the Company continues to meet the criteria for equity classification. Warrants that are accounted for as equity-classified are further discussed in Note 7, Equity, of the notes to the consolidated financial statements. Warrants that are classified as liabilities are accounted for at fair value and remeasured at each reporting date until exercise, expiration, or modification that results in equity classification. Any change in the fair value of the warrants is recognized as change in fair value of warrant liabilities in the Consolidated Statements of Operations. The classification of warrants, including whether warrants should be recorded as liabilities or as equity, is re-assessed at the end of each reporting period. The fair value of liability-classified warrants is determined using the Black-Scholes options pricing model ("Black-Scholes model") which includes Level 3 inputs as further discussed in Note 6, Private Placement Warrants and Recurring Fair Value Measurements, of the notes to the consolidated financial statements.

Stock-Based Compensation

We recognize the cost of stock-based awards granted to FaZe employees, directors, and nonemployee consultants based on the estimated grant-date fair value of the awards. Cost is recognized on a straight-line basis over the service period, which is generally the vesting period of the award. We have elected to recognize the effect of forfeitures in the period they occur.



Based on the early stage of our company's development and other relevant factors, we determined that an Option Pricing Model ("OPM") was the most appropriate method for allocating FaZe's enterprise value to determine the estimated fair value of common stock. Application of the OPM involves the use of estimates, judgment, and assumptions that are highly complex and subjective, such as those regarding the Company's expected future revenue, expenses, and cash flows, discount rates, market multiples, the selection of comparable companies, and the probability of future events. Specifically, we have historically used the back solve analysis to estimate the fair value of our common stock, which derives the implied equity value for one type of equity security from a contemporaneous transaction involving another type of security (shares of our preferred stock in this instance).

The estimates utilized in determining the grant date fair value for new awards are no longer necessary now that our shares are publicly traded. The grant date fair value of our common stock was determined with the assistance of an independent third-party valuation specialist.

We specifically determine the fair value of FaZe stock options using the Black-Scholes option pricing model, which is impacted by the following assumptions:

- Expected Term We use the simplified method when calculating the expected term due to insufficient historical exercise data.
- Expected Volatility As our stock has recently become publicly traded, the volatility is based on a benchmark of comparable companies within our peer group.
- Expected Dividend Yield The dividend rate used is zero as we have never paid cash dividends on our common stock and do not anticipate doing so in the foreseeable future.
- Risk-Free Interest Rate The interest rates used are based on the implied yield available on a U.S. Treasury zero-coupon instrument with an equivalent remaining term equal to the expected life of the award.

Income Taxes

We record a tax provision for the anticipated tax consequences of the reported results of operations. In accordance with ASC 740, Income Taxes, the provision for income taxes is computed using the asset and liability method, under which deferred tax assets and liabilities are recognized for the expected future tax consequences attributable to differences between the consolidated financial statement carrying amounts of existing assets and liabilities and their respective tax bases, operating losses and tax credit carryforwards.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured using enacted tax rates expected to apply to taxable income in the years in which those temporary differences are expected to be recovered or settled. The effect on deferred tax assets and liabilities due to a change in tax rates is recognized in income in the period that includes the enactment date. We evaluate deferred tax assets each period for recoverability. For those assets that do not meet the threshold of "more likely than not" that they will be realized in the future, a valuation allowance is recorded. We have considered our history of cumulative tax and book losses incurred since inception, and other positive and negative evidence, and have concluded that it is more likely than not that the Company will not realize the benefits of the net deferred tax assets as of June 30, 2023 or as of June 30, 2022.

We report a liability for unrecognized tax benefits resulting from uncertain tax positions taken or expected to be taken in a tax return. We recognize interest and penalties, if any, related to unrecognized tax benefits in income tax expense, if applicable income tax returns remain open for examination by applicable authorities, generally three years from filing for federal and four years for state. We would classify interest and penalties related to uncertain tax positions as income tax expense, if applicable. There was no interest expense or penalties related to unrecognized tax benefits recorded through June 30, 2023.

Income tax expense for the three months ended June 30, 2023 and 2022 is based on the estimated annual effective tax rate. The Company expects a 0% estimated annual effective tax rate for 2023. No income tax expense was recognized for the three and six months ended June 30, 2023 or 2022.

Recently Adopted and Issued Accounting Pronouncements

See Note 3, Summary of Significant Accounting Policies, of the notes to the consolidated financial statements, for recently adopted accounting pronouncements and recently issued accounting pronouncements that may have an impact on future results but that have not yet been adopted as of the date of the consolidated financial statements.



Emerging Growth Company Accounting Election

Section 102(b)(1) of the JOBS Act exempts emerging growth companies from being required to comply with new or revised financial accounting standards until private companies are required to comply with the new or revised financial accounting standards. The JOBS Act provides that a company can elect not to take advantage of the extended transition period and comply with the requirements that apply to non-emerging growth companies, and any such election to not take advantage of the extended transition period is irrevocable. We are an "emerging growth company" as defined in Section 2(a) of the Securities Act of 1933, as amended, and have elected to take advantage of the benefits of this extended transition period. This may make it difficult to compare our financial results with the financial results of other public companies that are either not emerging growth companies or emerging growth companies that have chosen not to take advantage of the extended transition period.

Item 3. Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures About Market Risk

As of June 30, 2023, we were not subject to any market or interest rate risk. We have not engaged in any hedging activities since our inception. We do not expect to engage in any hedging activities with respect to the market risk to which we are exposed.

Item 4. Controls and Procedures

Evaluation of Disclosure Controls and Procedures

Disclosure controls and procedures are controls and other procedures that are designed to ensure that information required to be disclosed in our reports filed or submitted under the Exchange Act is recorded, processed, summarized and reported within the time periods specified in the SEC's rules and forms. Disclosure controls and procedures include, without limitation, controls and procedures designed to ensure that information required to be disclosed in our reports filed or submitted under the Exchange Act is accumulated and communicated to our management, including our Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer, to allow timely decisions regarding required disclosure.

As required by Rules 13a-15 and 15d-15 under the Exchange Act, our management carried out an evaluation of the effectiveness of the design and operation of our disclosure controls and procedures under the supervision of our Chief Executive Officer and our Chief Financial Officer and concluded that our disclosure controls and procedures were not effective as of June 30, 2023 because of the identification of two material weaknesses in our internal control over financial reporting relating to the following: inadequate design of information technology (IT) general and application controls resulting from inappropriate access given to certain individuals within finance, including the Chief Financial Officer and Controller; lack of adequate segregation of duties within a significant account of processes; and lack of adequate and timely review of accounts and reconciliations resulting in material audit adjustments and significant post-closing adjustments. A material weakness is a deficiency, or combination of deficiencies, in internal control over financial reporting, such that there is a reasonable possibility that a material misstatement of the company's annual or interim financial statements will not be prevented or detected on a timely basis. In light of these material weaknesses, we performed additional analysis as deemed necessary to ensure that our financial statements were prepared in accordance with U.S. generally accepted accounting principles.

Changes in Internal Control over Financial Reporting

There was no change in our internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the three months ended June 30, 2023 covered by this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, our internal control over financial reporting, except as described below. In light of the material weaknesses discussed above, we are enhancing our processes to identify and appropriately apply applicable accounting requirements to better evaluate and understand the nuances of the complex accounting standards that apply to our financial statements. Our remediation plans and the steps taken at this time include hiring experienced personnel, providing enhanced access to accounting literature, research materials and documents and increasing communication among our personnel and third-party professionals with whom we consult regarding complex accounting applications. The material weakness in our internal control over financial reporting will not be considered remediated until these modifications are implemented and after being in operation for a sufficient period of time, tested, and concluded by management to be designed and operating effectively. In addition, as we continue to evaluate and work to improve our internal control over financial reporting, management may determine to take additional measures to address control deficiencies or may determine to modify our remediation plan. Management will test and evaluate the implementation of these modifications to ascertain whether they are designed and operating effectively to provide reasonable assurance that they will prevent or detect a material misstatement in the Company's financial statements.



PART II. OTHER INFORMATION

Item 1. Legal Proceedings

We are, from time to time, subject to various claims, lawsuits and other legal and administrative proceedings arising in the ordinary course of business. We are not currently a party to any such claims, lawsuits or proceedings, the outcome of which, if determined adversely to us, we believe would, individually or in the aggregate, be material to our business or result in a material adverse effect on our future operating results, financial condition or cash flows. See Note 10, Litigation, of the notes to the Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements for additional information.

Item 1A. Risk Factors

Our business, financial condition, results of operations, and cash flows may be impacted by a number of factors, many of which are beyond our control, including those set forth in our most recent Annual Report on Form 10-K and in our other filings with the SEC, the occurrence of any one of which could have a material adverse effect on our actual results.

The Company may not meet the listing requirements of the Nasdaq markets which could cause our stock to be delisted.

To maintain the listing of our Common Stock on The Nasdaq Capital Market, we must satisfy minimum financial and other continued listing requirements and standards, including those related to the price of our Common Stock. Pursuant to the requirements of Nasdaq, if the closing bid price of a company's stock falls below \$1.00 per share for 30 consecutive business days (the "Bid Price Rule"), Nasdaq will notify the company that it is no longer in compliance with the Nasdaq listing qualifications. If a company is not in compliance with the Bid Price Rule, the company will have 180 calendar days to regain compliance. On March 23, 2023, the Company received notice from Nasdaq that it was no longer in compliance with the Bid Price Rule.

In accordance with Nasdaq Listing Rule 5810(c)(3)(A), the Company has been provided an initial period of 180 calendar days, or until September 19, 2023 (the "Compliance Date"), by which the Company has to regain compliance with the minimum bid price requirement. To regain compliance, the closing bid price of the Common Stock must meet or exceed \$1.00 per share for a minimum of ten consecutive business days at any time prior to the Compliance Date, unless the Nasdaq staff exercises its discretion to extend this ten-day period pursuant to Nasdaq Listing Rule 5810(c)(3)(H).

If the Company does not regain compliance with the minimum bid price requirement by the Compliance Date, the Company may be eligible for an additional 180-calendar day compliance period. If the Company does not qualify for, or fails to regain compliance during, the second compliance period, then the Nasdaq staff will provide written notification to the Company that the Common Stock will be subject to delisting. At that time, the Company may appeal the Nasdaq staff's delisting determination to the Nasdaq Hearings Panel.

There can be no assurance that the Company will regain and maintain compliance with the Bid Price Rule and the other listing requirements of the Nasdaq, or that it will not be delisted. If we are not able stay in compliance with the relevant Nasdaq Bid Price Rule, there is a risk that our Common Stock may be delisted from Nasdaq, which would adversely impact liquidity of our Common Stock and potentially result in even lower bid process for our Common Stock.



In an effort to regain compliance with the Bid Price Rule, on July 10, 2023, we sought stockholder approval at our 2023 annual meeting to enable the FaZe Board to effect a reverse split of our Common Stock at a ratio of 1-for-20 or 1-for-30, as determined by the FaZe Board at a later date, which our stockholders approved. The timing for selection of the reverse stock split ratio and the effective date for such reverse stock split will be determined by the Board, and the Board may delay or abandon the reverse stock split if it determines that it is no longer in the best interest of the Company or its stockholders. Reducing the number of outstanding shares of our Common Stock through a reverse stock split is intended, absent other factors, to increase the per share trading price of our Common Stock and may make our Common Stock more attractive to a broader range of institutional and other investors. However, other factors, such as our financial results, market conditions and the market perception of our business may adversely affect the per share trading price of our Common Stock will increase following the reverse stock split or that the per share trading price of our Common Stock will increase following the reverse stock split or that the per share trading price of our Common Stock will not decrease in the future. In addition, there can be no assurance that:

- the market price per share of our Common Stock after a reverse split will rise in proportion to the reduction in the number of shares of our Common Stock outstanding before a reverse stock split;
- a reverse stock split will result in a per share price that will attract brokers and investors who do not trade in lower priced stocks;
- that implementation of a reverse stock split won't lead to reduced trading and a smaller number of market makers for our Common Stock, particularly if the price per share of our Common Stock does not increase as a result of the reverse stock split; or
- we will continue to meet the requirements for trading on Nasdaq.

Item 2. Unregistered Sales of Equity Securities and Use of Proceeds

Other than as disclosed by the Company in a Current Report on Form 8-K as filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission, there have been no unregistered sales of the Company's equity securities during the period covered by this Quarterly Report.

Item 3. Defaults Upon Senior Securities

None.

Item 4. Mine Safety Disclosures

None.

Item 5. Other Information

None.

Item 6. Exhibits

The exhibits filed as part of this Quarterly Report are listed in the index to exhibits immediately preceding such exhibits, which index to exhibits is incorporated herein by reference.

			-	
Fv	hib	it]	Ind	ov
ĽA	шь	1L I	mu	EЛ

Exhibit No.	
10.1	Standby Equity Purchase Agreement between FaZe Holdings Inc. and YA II PN, LTD.Tamara Brandt, dated January 15 May 10, 2023 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the Company's Current Report on Form 8-K filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on May 15, 2023)
31.1*	Certification of Chief Executive Officer pursuant to Rules 13a-14 and 15d-14 promulgated under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934.
31.2*	Certification of Chief Financial Officer and Chief Operating Officer pursuant to Rules 13a-14 and 15d-14 promulgated under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934.
32.1**	Certification of Chief Executive Officer pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.
-	
32.2**	Certification of Chief Financial Officer pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.
101.INS	Inline XBRL Instance Document (the instance document does not appear in the Interactive Data File because iXBRL tags are embedded within the Inline XBRL document).
101.SCH	Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Schema Document.
101.CAL	Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Calculation Linkbase Document.
101.DEF	Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Definition Linkbase Document.
101.LAB	Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Labels Linkbase Document.
101 DDD	
101.PRE	Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Presentation Linkbase Document.
104	Cover Page Interactive Data File (formatted as Inline XBRL and contained in Exhibit 101).
* Filed here	with.

** Furnished herewith.

SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the registrant has duly caused this report to be signed on its behalf by the undersigned thereunto duly authorized.

Date: August 14, 2023

Date: August 14, 2023

FAZE HOLDINGS INC.

By: /s/ Lee Trink Name: Lee Trink Title: Chief Executive Officer

(Principal Executive Officer)

FAZE HOLDINGS INC.

By: /s/ Christoph Pachler

Name: Christoph Pachler Title: Chief Financial Officer (Principal Financial Officer)

CERTIFICATION OF CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER PURSUANT TO SECTION 302 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

I, Lee Trink, certify that:

- 1. I have reviewed this quarterly report on Form 10-Q of FaZe Holdings Inc.;
- Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this report;
- 3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material respects the financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;
- 4. The registrant's other certifying officer(s) and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the registrant and have:
 - (a) Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our supervision, to ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those entities, particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared;
 - (b) Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed under our supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles;
 - (c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant's disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about the effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and
 - (d) Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant's internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant's most recent fiscal quarter (the registrant's fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the registrant's internal control over financial reporting; and
- 5. The registrant's other certifying officer(s) and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to the registrant's auditors and the audit committee of the registrant's board of directors (or persons performing equivalent functions):
 - (a) All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrant's ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and
 - (b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant's internal control over financial reporting.

Date: August 14, 2023

/s/ Lee Trink

Lee Trink Chief Executive Officer (Principal Executive Officer)

CERTIFICATION OF CHIEF FINANCIAL OFFICER PURSUANT TO SECTION 302 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

I, Christoph Pachler, certify that:

- 1. I have reviewed this quarterly report on Form 10-Q of FaZe Holdings Inc.;
- Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this report;
- 3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material respects the financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;
- 4. The registrant's other certifying officer(s) and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the registrant and have:
 - (a) Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our supervision, to ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those entities, particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared;
 - (b) Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed under our supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles;
 - (c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant's disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about the effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and
 - (d) Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant's internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant's most recent fiscal quarter (the registrant's fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the registrant's internal control over financial reporting; and
- 5. The registrant's other certifying officer(s) and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to the registrant's auditors and the audit committee of the registrant's board of directors (or persons performing equivalent functions):
 - (a) All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrant's ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and
 - (b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant's internal control over financial reporting.

Date: August 14, 2023

/s/ Christoph Pachler

Christoph Pachler Chief Financial Officer (Principal Financial Officer)

CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO 18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350, AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

In connection with the Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q of FaZe Holdings Inc. (the "Company") for the quarter ended June 30, 2023 as filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on the date hereof (the "Report"), I, Lee Trink, Chief Executive Officer of the Company, certify, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. § 1350, as adopted pursuant to § 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, that:

- 1. The Report fully complies with the requirements of Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934; and
- 2. The information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of operations of the Company. August 14, 2023

/s/ Lee Trink

Lee Trink Chief Executive Officer

CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO 18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350, AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

In connection with the Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q of FaZe Holdings Inc. (the "Company") for the quarter ended June 30, 2023 as filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on the date hereof (the "Report"), I, Christoph Pachler, Chief Financial Officer of the Company, certify, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. § 1350, as adopted pursuant to § 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, that:

- 1. The Report fully complies with the requirements of Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934; and
- 2. The information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of operations of the Company. August 14, 2023

/s/ Christoph Pachler Christoph Pachler

Christoph Pachler Chief Financial Officer